CRAPHS AND THEIR ASSOCIATED LINE-GRAPHS

Thesis for the Degree of Ph. D. MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY Gary Theodore Chartrand 1964



3 1293 00671 9672

thesis entitled

Graphs and Their Associated Line-Graphs

presented by

Gary Theodore Chartrand

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Mathematics

Major professor

Date_May 20, 1964

0-169

LIBRARY State



RETURNING MATERIALS:

Place in book drop to remove this checkout from your record. FINES will be charged if book is returned after the date stamped below.



ABSTRACT

GRAPHS AND THEIR ASSOCIATED LINE-GRAPHS

by Gary Theodore Chartrand

With every ordinary graph G there is associated a graph L(G), called the line-graph of G, whose vertices are in one-to-one correspondence with the edges of G and having the property that adjacency is preserved. The concept of the line-graph was originated in 1932 by H. Whitney. In the 32 years which have elapsed since then, the literature on this subject has been quite sparse. The purpose of this thesis is to add to the knowledge of line-graphs.

Section 1 consists of the introduction in which the origin of the thesis problem is presented and in which are outlined the topics treated in the sections which follow. Section 2 contains definitions of the technical terms which are basic to graph theory and which are used throughout the thesis. In this same section we also establish some of the notation to be used. A brief history of the literature on line-graphs of ordinary graphs is presented in Section 3.

Numerous preliminary and elementary results are given in Section 4. Among these are: (1) the only graphs which are isomorphic to their line-graphs are the regular graphs of degree two; (2) a necessary and sufficient condition that the sequence $\{L^n(G)\}$ of repeated line-graphs of a graph G be infinite is that at least one component of G be other than an arc; (3) for every connected graph G which is not an arc, there exists a nonnegative interger N such that for all $p \ge N$, $L^p(G)$ is nonseparable. (The exact value of N is given for every such graph.)

Connectedness relations between graphs and their linegraphs are investigated in Section 5. In particular, it is shown that: (1) if a graph G is m-edge connected, then L(G)is (2m-2)-edge connected; and (2) if G is m-connected, then L(G) is m-connected. Examples are given to show that in general these results cannot be improved.

Section 6 is devoted to Euler graphs. It is shown that the line-graph of an Euler graph is an Euler graph; however, the main theorem is: A necessary and sufficient condition that some repeated line-graph of a connected graph G be Euler is that every edge of G have the same parity. In particular, if a graph G has this property, then $L^2(G)$ is an Euler graph.

In Section 7 the notion of sequential graphs is introduced, and the relationship between such graphs and Hamilton line-graphs is given. It is in this section that the major theorem of the thesis is presented, namely: Let G be any connected graph of order n which is not an arc. Then there exists a unique nonnegative integer h(G), called the Hamilton index of G, such that for all $p \ge h(G)$, $L^p(G)$ is a Hamilton graph; furthermore, $h(G) \leq n-3$, and the upper bound n-3 cannot, in general, be improved.

Triangle relations in repeated line-graphs of regular graphs G of degree r > 2 are given in Section 8. It is shown there that the probability approaches one as n approaches infinity that if three vertices are selected at random from $L^{n}(G)$, then these will be the vertices of an "empty" triangle in $L^{n}(G)$.

The thesis is concluded with Section 9 in which are presented some miscellaneous results dealing with line-graphs. The chief theorems of the section are: (1) a necessary and sufficient condition that a graph be the line-graph of a tree is that it be a completed Husimi tree, all of whose vertices have connective index at most two; (2) the only bipartite line-graphs are arcs and circuits of even length; (3) the line-graph of a nonplanar graph is nonplanar.

GRAPHS AND THEIR ASSOCIATED LINE-GRAPHS

Ву

Gary Theodore Chartrand

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Mathematics

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

a,

The interest shown by many individuals in this thesis and in graph theory, in general, has made the development of this thesis a most enjoyable and rewarding experience. To all these people, I give my most sincere thanks.

First and foremost must the name of Professor E. A. Nordhaus be mentioned. To say that I appreciate all the time he has taken for me, all the things he has taught me, and all the kindly advice he has given me, is certainly an understatement. For everything he has done for me, I am indeed most grateful.

I wish next to express my gratitude to Professor L. M. Kelly for the interest he has displayed, for the discussions I have had with him, and for the advice and suggestions he has given me.

To Professors B. M. Stewart and Frank Harary go my sincere thanks for their interest.

I would also like to thank Professors J. G. Hocking and R. H. Wasserman for serving on my guidance committee.

ii

DEDICATION

to

my Mother,

my Father,

and Mark.

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section		Page							
1.	INTRODUCTION	1							
2.	NOTATION AND BASIC DEFINITIONS	3							
3.	A SURVEY OF KNOWN RESULTS	9							
4.	FUNDAMENTAL PROPERTIES OF AND PRELIMINARY RESULTS CONCERNING LINE-GRAPHS	16							
5.	THE CONNECTIVITY OF LINE-GRAPHS	32							
6.	LINE-GRAPHS AND EULER PATHS	50							
7.	SEQUENTIAL GRAPHS; LINE-GRAPHS AND HAMILTON CIRCUITS	56							
8.	TRIANGLE RELATIONS IN REPEATED LINE-GRAPHS OF REGULAR GRAPHS	74							
9.	MISCELLANEOUS RESULTS ON LINE-GRAPHS	82							
INDEX OF	DEFINITIONS	90							
BIBLIOGRAPHY									

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure												Page
3.1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	11
3.2	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	13
5.1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	45
5.2	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	48
7.1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	57
7.2	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	57
7.3	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	57
7.4	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	57
7.5	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	66
7.6	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	67
7.7	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	73
9.1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	87
9.2	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	89

SECTION 1

INTRODUCTION

In 1932 the paper "Congruent Graphs and the Connectivity of Graphs" by H. Whitney appeared in the <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Mathematics</u> [15]. This paper contained a theorem which led to the definition of "line-graph" we are about to give, and it is the development of this concept with which we are concerned. The problem of investigating the properties of repeated line-graphs was suggested by Ore (see [11], page 21, problem 7).

<u>Definition 1.1</u> The <u>line-graph</u> L(G) of an ordinary graph G is that graph whose vertex set can be put in one-to-one correspondence with the edges of G in such a way that two vertices of L(G) are joined by an edge if and only if the corresponding edges of G have a vertex in common.

By $L^{2}(G)$ we shall mean L(L(G)), and, in general, $L^{n}(G) = L(L^{n-1}(G))$ for $n \ge 2$. For L(G) we shall sometimes write $L^{1}(G)$, and $L^{0}(G)$ will mean G itself. The graphs $L^{n}(G)$, $n \ge 2$, will be referred to as the <u>repeated line-graphs</u> of G.

The term "line-graph" employed by Harary [6], is alternatively referred to as "interchange graph" by Ore [11]

and "derivative" by Sabidussi [12]; however, we shall use "line-graph" throughout the paper.

Definitions of technical terms which are basic to graph theory and which are used in this thesis are presented in Section 2, as well as a few remarks regarding notation. In Section 3, we give a survey of the known literature on line-graphs.

Several preliminary and fundamental results concerning line-graphs are given in Section 4. Many of these results are used throughout the thesis.

In Section 5 we discuss the relationship between the connectivity of a graph and that of its line-graph. The corresponding relationship with edge connectivity is also investigated.

Sections 6 and 7 deal with the problems of line-graphs containing Euler paths and Hamilton circuits, respectively. In particular, conditions are given under which repeated line-graphs of a given graph contain Euler paths or Hamilton circuits.

In Section 8 we investigate some numerical results involving the number of vertices, edges, and the various types of triangles which occur in repeated line-graphs of regular graphs of degree r > 2.

The concluding Section 9 contains a number of miscellaneous results on line-graphs dealing with trees, bigraphs, and planar and nonplanar graphs.

SECTION 2

NOTATION AND BASIC DEFINITIONS

The subject of graph theory is presently in the position of having many different terms used for the same concept. It therefore seems advisable to define those terms which are fundamental to graph theory and which are used in this thesis. These definitions are presented in this section, as is some of the notation which is used later.

In order to give a definition of a graph, we begin with a finite nonempty set V, whose elements we call <u>points</u> or <u>vertices</u>. We refer to V as the <u>vertex set</u>. A <u>graph</u> G with vertex set V is a set (possibly empty) of pairs of elements of V. The elements of G are called <u>lines</u> or <u>edges</u>. To emphasize the fact that G has vertex set V, we often write G(V) for G. If E = (a,b) is an edge of G(V), then we say E joins a and b. An edge of the type (a,a) is called a <u>loop</u>. We shall omit loops entirely from our consideration. If a graph G = G(V) consists of ordered pairs of vertices, then G is called a <u>directed graph</u> (or simply a <u>digraph</u>) and the edges of G are referred to as <u>directed edges</u>. If G consists of unordered pairs of vertices, then G is an <u>undirected</u> graph. An undirected graph without loops is called an <u>ordinary</u> graph, and with the one exception noted in Section

7, the word "graph" in this thesis is understood to mean "ordinary graph."

With regard to language, when we speak of the vertices of the graph G = G(V), we shall be referring to the vertices in V.

If two vertices a and b are joined by an edge E, then a and b are said to be adjacent. Similarly, if two distinct edges E_1 and E_2 have a vertex in common, they are <u>adjacent</u>. If E = (a,b) is an edge of some graph, then E and a are said to be incident to each other, as are E and b. A vertex adjacent to no other vertex in a graph is called an isolated vertex. If a graph G consists only of isolated vertices, then G is called an empty graph. A trivial graph consists of one (isolated) vertex; thus, a nontrivial graph must necessarily contain at least two vertices. In contradistinction to an empty graph is a complete graph, in which all pairs of distinct vertices are adjacent. A complete graph with n vertices has n(n-1)/2 edges and is denoted by K_n . The graph K_3 is called a <u>triangle</u>. The number of elements in the vertex set of a graph is referred to as the order of that graph.

The number of vertices to which a vertex a is adjacent is called the <u>degree of a</u> and is denoted by $\rho(a)$. If a is an isolated vertex, then $\rho(a) = 0$; while if G = G(V) is a complete graph of order n, then $\rho(v) = n-1$ for every $v \in V$. An edge E = (a,b) is called a <u>terminal edge</u> if either $\rho(a)=1$

or $\rho(b)=1$. If $\rho(a)=1$, then a is a <u>terminal vertex</u>. A fundamental theorem states:

If G = G(V) has m edges, then $\sum_{v \in V} \rho(v) = 2m$. From this result it follows that every graph contains an even number of vertices having odd degrees.

A graph H is called a <u>subgraph</u> of the graph G = G(V)if the vertex set of H is a nonempty subset of V, and if every edge of H is an edge of G. If a subgraph H of a graph G = G(V) is defined as a certain nonempty subset of the edges of G and the vertex set of H is not otherwise specified, then the vertex set of H shall be those vertices which are incident with at least one edge of H. If A is a nonempty subset of the vertex set V, then the subgraph G(A), whose vertex set is A and whose edges are all those edges in G which join two vertices of A, is called the <u>section graph</u> of G <u>determined by A</u> or the <u>subgraph</u> of G <u>generated by A</u>. If A = V, then the section graph G(V) is G itself, which agrees with our earlier notation.

If G is a graph having at least one edge and H is a proper subgraph of G (that is, G contains at least one more edge than H), then we can speak of the <u>complement of H in G</u>, denoted by G-H, which is that subgraph of G consisting of those edges of G which are not in H. Under this definition, it is never possible for G-H to contain isolated vertices. Similar to this is the concept of the <u>complementary graph</u> \overline{G} of a graph G = G(V). \overline{G} is that graph whose vertex set is V

and which contains all edges in the complete graph having vertex set V which are not in the graph G. \overline{G} may very well contain isolated vertices; indeed, the complementary graph of a complete graph is an empty graph, and vice versa.

Two graphs G and G' with vertex sets V and V', respectively, are <u>isomorphic</u> if there exists a one-to-one correspondence between V and V' such that two vertices are joined by an edge in one graph if and only if the corresponding vertices are joined by an edge in the other graph.

A <u>path</u> in a graph G = G(V) is a sequence P of distinct edges from G : $E_1 = (a,a_1)$, $E_2 = (a_1, a_2)$, . . ., $E_n = (a_{n-1}, b)$, where the vertices need not be distinct. We say P is a path from a to b (or from b to a). If in the sequence P above, a = b (and so $n \ge 3$), then P is called a <u>cyclic path</u>. If all vertices in a path are distinct, then the path is called an <u>arc</u>. If a = b, but all other vertices are distinct, then the cyclic path is called a <u>circuit</u> or a <u>cycle</u>. For the path P above, we often write P : $(a,a_1,a_2, \ldots,a_{n-1},b)$. If P is a cyclic path, we write P : $(a,a_1,a_2, \ldots,a_{n-1},b=a)$. By the <u>section graph</u> [C] <u>of a circuit</u> C : $(a_0,a_1,\ldots,a_{n-1},a_n=a_0)$ in G, we mean the section graph G(A), where $A = \{a_0,a_1,\ldots,a_{n-1}\}$. A <u>diagonal</u> of a circuit C is an edge in [C] which is not in C.

It is well known and not difficult to prove that if there is a path from a to b, a \neq b, in a graph G, then there is also an arc in G from a to b. Two <u>vertices</u> a and b <u>are</u> connected if a = b or if a \neq b and there is an arc from a to

A connected graph is a graph in which every pair of its b. vertices is connected. The relation "is connected to" is an equivalence relation on V; therefore, there exists a decomposition of the vertex set $V = UV_i$ into disjoint sets such that in each V_i , each pair of vertices is connected, while if a $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ V₁ and b $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ V₁, i \neq j, then a is not connected to b. G can then be decomposed into disjoint connected section graphs $G(V_i)$, called the connected components or simply the <u>components</u> of G. We write $G = \sum G(V_i)$, and say G is expressed as the direct sum of its components indicating that every vertex and every edge of G is in precisely one of the $G(V_1)$. We say that G is expressed as the <u>edge</u> <u>direct</u> sum of the subgraphs, G_1 , G_2 ,..., G_k , and write again $G = \sum G_i$, if every vertex and every edge of ${\tt G}$ is in some ${\tt G}_{\mbox{\scriptsize i}}$ but no edge is in more than one G₁. Two subgraphs which have no vertex in common are called disjoint, and two subgraphs which have no edge in common are called edge disjoint. It therefore follows that the summands of a direct sum are pairwise disjoint and the summands of an edge direct sum are pairwise edge disjoint. Clearly, disjoint subgraphs are edge disjoint, and a direct sum is also an edge direct sum, but the converse of neither is true; indeed, a graph G and its complementary graph \overline{G} are always edge disjoint but never disjoint.

The definitions of a few special types of graphs will be useful. A connected graph which contains no circuits is a <u>tree</u>.

A graph G = G(V) is called <u>regular of degree</u> <u>r</u> if $\rho(v) = r$ for all $v \in V$. A circuit is regular of degree two, and K_n is regular of degree n-1.

If we write $V = V_1 \cup V_2$ as a disjoint union of nonempty subsets of V, and G = G(V) is such that no two vertices of V_1 , i = 1, 2, are adjacent, then G is called a <u>bipartite</u> <u>graph</u> or a <u>bigraph</u>. If V_1 contains m vertices and V_2 contains n vertices, then the bigraph in which all mn edges are present is called a <u>complete bigraph</u> and is denoted by $K_{m,n}$ or $K_{n,m}$. A complete bigraph of the type $K_{1,n}$ is referred to as a <u>star graph</u>.

SECTION 3

A SURVEY OF KNOWN RESULTS

This section will be devoted to a brief history of the literature on line-graphs, which is quite sparse. We shall also mention here some easily verified elementary results.

From the definition of "line-graph," it follows at once that the line-graph L(G) of a graph G depends only on the edges of G and the way they are related to one another. This leads to the following.

<u>Theorem 3.1</u> Let G and G' be two nonempty graphs, and let H and H' be those subgraphs of G and G', respectively, obtained by deleting all isolated vertices of G and G'. If H and H' are isomorphic, then L(G) and L(G') are isomorphic.

According to the preceding theorem, if we are given a line-graph J, we can always find a graph G having no isolated vertices such that L(G) = J. We shall make use of this fact. Whether two nonisomorphic graphs, neither having isolated vertices, can have isomorphic line-graphs is the essence of the first theorem on line-graphs given by Whitney [15] in 1932.

<u>Theorem of Whitney</u> If the line-graphs L(G) and L(G') of the connected graphs G and G' are isomorphic but different from K_3 , then G and G' are isomorphic.

It is an easy exercise to show that $L(K_3)$ and $L(K_{1,3})$ are both K_3 and that no other graph has the line-graph K_3 ; thus, Whitney's theorem implies the existence of a one-to-one correspondence between connected graphs and line-graphs of connected graphs if the line-graph K_3 is not considered. Since 1932, other proofs of Whitney's theorem have been given. One of these made use of the following interesting characterization of line-graphs given by Krausz (see [6]).

<u>Theorem of Krausz</u> A graph is a line-graph if and only if it can be expressed as an edge direct sum of complete subgraphs in such a way that no vertex is contained in more than two of these subgraphs.

It is not difficult to show that a line-graph L(G) can be expressed as an edge direct sum of complete subgraphs in such a way that every vertex belongs to exactly two of these subgraphs unless G has terminal edges, so, in particular, this result holds if G is a regular graph of degree r > 2.

With the aid of Krausz' theorem, the following result is easily established.

<u>Theorem 3.2</u> There exist graphs which are not line-graphs. <u>Proof</u>. Consider the star graph $K_{1,3}$. The only complete

subgraphs in $K_{1,3}$ are edges, so if $K_{1,3}$ is expressed as an

edge direct sum of complete subgraphs, then necessarily one vertex will be contained in three such subgraphs. Hence, $K_{1,3}$ is not a line-graph. Q.E.D.

As Ore [11] pointed out, with every graph G = G(V)one can associate various matrices called <u>incidence matrices</u>. One such matrix is the so-called <u>vertex incidence matrix</u> which we shall denote by $M_V(G)$. The usual way of constructing this square matrix is as follows. Every edge of G can be considered as an element of the product space V x V. The elements of V x V can be represented in a square array with the elements of V serving as coordinates along the two axes (Figure 3.1).

Figure 3.1
$$\begin{array}{c|c} v_1 \cdots v_j \cdots v_n \\ \hline v_1 \\ \vdots \\ v_1 \\ \vdots \\ v_n \end{array}$$

It is customary to take the elements of V in the same order along each axis. At the position with coordinates (v_1, v_j) we place 1 or 0 depending on whether there is or is not a corresponding edge in G. We thus obtain the matrix $M_v(G)$. The matrix $M_v(G)$ is a symmetric matrix having all diagonal entries equal to 0. Another matrix is the <u>edge incidence</u> <u>matrix</u> $M_e(G)$ of G where both rows and columns correspond to the edges of G, the edges taken in the same order along both row and column. At a position (E_1, E_2) we place 1 or O depending on whether E_1 and E_2 are or are not adjacent. As with $M_V(G)$, $M_e(G)$ is a square symmetric matrix all of whose diagonal entries are O. It is possible to consider $M_e(G)$ as the vertex incidence matrix of a new graph G_1 whose vertices are in one-to-one correspondence with the edges of G. It is then easily seen that the graph G_1 is the line-graph L(G). Figure 3.2 gives an example.

In recent years investigations have been made to determine how closely various properties of line-graphs of special graphs seem to characterize these graphs. The first theorem along this line is given next (see [3], [8], and [13]). It was proved in parts and completed in 1960.

Theorem of Conner, Hoffman, and Shrikhande If G is a graph of order n(n-1)/2, $n \ge 4$, having the following three properties:

(i) every vertex of G has degree 2(n-2),

- (ii) every two adjacent vertices are mutually adjacent to n-2 other vertices,
- (iii) every two nonadjacent vertices are mutually adjacent to four vertices.

then G is isomorphic to $L(K_n)$ except when n = 8, in which case there are precisely three counter examples.

The corresponding theorem for complete bigraphs appeared in 1963 [9].



 $M_V(G)$:



 $M_{e}(G) = M_{v}(L(G)):$

Figure 3.2

<u>Theorem of J. W. Moon</u> If G is a graph of order mn, $m \ge n \ge$ 1, having the following three properties:

- (i) every vertex of G has degree m + n 2,
- (ii) there are nm (m-1)/2 pairs of adjacent vertices mutually adjacent to m-2 other vertices, and the remaining mn(n-1)/2 pairs of adjacent vertices are mutually adjacent to n-2 other vertices,

then G is isomorphic to $L(K_{m,n})$ except possibly when (m,n) = (4,4), (4,3), or (5,4).

Shrikhande [14] has shown there is precisely one counter example for (m,n) = (4,4), and from a discussion with Professor Harary, I have learned that A. J. Hoffman has now verified Moon's theorem for (m, n) = (4,3) and (5,4); hence, the result is now complete.

There is one other result in the literature which deals with line-graphs of ordinary graphs. This theorem falls within the realm of algebraic graph theory, a topic not considered in this thesis. For the sake of completeness, however, we shall also state this result. A few introductory remarks are in order.

With every graph G = G(V) there corresponds a group of <u>automorphisms</u> $\Gamma = \Gamma(G)$ consisting of all isomorphisms of G onto G, i.e., Γ consists of all one-to-one correspondences f of V onto V such that when E = (a,b) is an edge in G, E' = (f(a), f(b)) is also an edge in G, and conversely. Γ may thus be considered as a permutation group on V. The automorphism group of K_n is S_n, the symmetric group of order n!, while the automorphism group of a circuit of length n is the dihedral group of order 2n. Perhaps the best known theorem in this area is due to Frucht (see [11]): For any finite group Γ there exists a graph G such that $\Gamma = \Gamma(G)$. The result on line-graphs [12] can now be given.

<u>Theorem of Sabidussi</u> If G is a connected nontrivial graph not isomorphic to K_2 , K_4 , Q (the graph of order four having four edges and a vertex of degree three), or to L(Q), then Γ (G) is isomorphic to Γ (L(G)).

SECTION 4

FUNDAMENTAL PROPERTIES OF AND PRELIMINARY RESULTS CONCERNING LINE-GRAPHS

In this section we present several basic results which are fundamental in understanding the relationship between a graph and its line-graph. Many of these results will be used numerous times in the sections which follow.

<u>Theorem 4.1</u> Let G = G(V) be a graph with m edges and T triangles. Then the line-graph L(G) of G contains m vertices, $\sum_{v \in V} \binom{\rho(v)}{2} edges, and T + \sum_{v \in V} \binom{\rho(v)}{3} triangles. Also, if e$ is the vertex in L(G) which corresponds to the edge E = (a,b) $of G, then <math>\rho(e)$ has the value $\rho(a) + \rho(b) - 2$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since there is a one-to-one correspondence between the edges of G and the vertices of L(G) and G has m edges, L(G) has m vertices.

Two vertices are joined by an edge in L(G) if and only if the corresponding edges in G are adjacent. The number of edges in L(G) is therefore the number of pairs of adjacent edges in G, which is $\sum_{u \in U} {\rho(v) \choose 2}$.

As we have seen, a triangle in a line-graph L(G) can be generated in one of two ways, namely, by a triangle in G or by three edges in G having a common vertex; the number of these types of subgraphs in G is given by T and $\sum_{v \in V} {\binom{\rho(v)}{3}}$,

respectively, thereby producing the desired result.

If the vertex e in L(G) corresponds to the edge E = (a,b) of G, then E is adjacent to $[\rho(a) - 1] + [\rho(b) - 1]$ = $\rho(a) + \rho(b) - 2$ edges of G implying that e is adjacent to $\rho(a) + \rho(b) - 2$ vertices in L(G) or that $\rho(e) = \rho(a) + \rho(b) - 2$. Q.E.D.

With the aid of the preceding theorem, it is now an easy matter to give a characterization of regular line-graphs. We precede this, however, with two definitions and a lemma.

<u>Definition 4.1</u> The <u>degree of an edge</u> E = (a,b) in a graph G is defined to be the number $\rho(E) = \rho(a) + \rho(b)$ -2, and is the number of edges in G adjacent to E.

<u>Definition 4.2</u> A graph G is said to be <u>edge regular</u> of degree r if every edge has the same degree r.

Lemma 4.2 A vertex e in the line-graph L(G) of the graph G has the same degree as the degree of its corresponding edge in G.

<u>Proof</u>. The proof is a direct consequence of Definition 4.1 and Theorem 4.1. Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 4.3</u> A line-graph L(G) is regular of degree r if and only if G is edge regular of degree r.

Proof. The proof follows immediately from Lemma 4.2.

Q.E.D.

An edge regular graph need not be regular as can be seen by considering star graphs having order three or more, but every regular graph is edge regular implying that the linegraph of a regular graph is regular. We state this in the following theorem.

<u>Theorem 4.4</u> If G is a nonempty regular graph of degree r, then L(G) is a regular graph of degree 2r - 2, and if $r \ge 2$, then for $n = 1, 2, 3, ..., L^n(G)$ is a regular graph of degree $2^n(r-2) + 2$.

<u>Proof</u>. If G is regular of degree $r \ge 1$, then G is seen to be edge regular of degree 2r - 2, and L(G) is regular of degree 2r - 2 by Theorem 4.3. The remaining part of the theorem follows by a routine application of mathematical induction.

Q.E.D.

Before continuing with regular graphs, we present some facts which will be useful in the sequel.

<u>Theorem 4.5</u> If G is a nontrivial connected graph, then L(G) is connected. Conversely, if L(G) is connected (and G has no isolated vertices) then G is connected.

<u>Proof</u>. Let G be a nontrivial connected graph. If G consists of a single edge, then L(G) is a single vertex and so is connected; otherwise, let a and b be any two vertices in L(G), and let $A = (a_1, a_2)$ and $B = (b_1, b_2)$ be the edges in G which correspond to a and b, respectively. If A and B are adjacent in G, then a and b are adjacent in L(G) and are connected; otherwise, since G is connected, a_1 and b_1 are

joined by an arc Q: E_1 , E_2 , . . ., E_k . Let e_1 , e_2 , . . ., e_k be the corresponding vertices in L(G). If A = E_1 and B = E_k , then P = (a, e_2 , . . . , e_{k-1} , b) is an arc in L(G) joining a and b. If A $\neq E_1$ but B = E_k , then P₁ = (a, e_1 , e_2 , . . ., e_{k-1} , b) is an arc in L(G) joining a and b. The cases A = E₁, B $\neq E_k$ and A $\neq E_1$, B $\neq E_k$ are handled similarly, and we see that a and b are connected so that L(G) is connected.

Conversely, let L(G) be connected, and let u and v be any two vertices of G. Since there are no isolated vertices in G either there is an edge (u, v) in G, in which case u and v are connected, or else there are two edges $E = (u, u_1)$ and $F = (v, v_1)$ in G. In the latter case let e and f be the two vertices in L(G) which correspond to E and F, respectively. Since L(G) is connected, e and f are connected by an arc S: $(e, e_1), (e_1, e_2), \ldots, (e_{s-1}, f)$ which corresponds to a path T : E, E₁, E₂, . . . , E_{s-1}, F in G from u to v so that u and v are connected. Q.E.D.

Theorem 4.5 immediately implies the following: <u>Corollary 4.5.1</u> If $\sum G_1$ is the direct sum decomposition of a graph G into its components, none of which are isolated vertices, then the line-graph L(G) can be expressed as the direct sum $\sum L(G_1)$ of its components.

One may ask if a statement analogous to Corollary 4.5.1 can be made when a graph is expressed as an edge direct sum. An answer is given in the negative by the following. <u>Theorem 4.6</u> If G is expressed as the edge direct sum H + K, neither H nor K having isolated vertices, then L(H) and L(K)are disjoint, hence edge disjoint, and L(G) can be expressed as the edge direct sum L(H) + L(K) + J, where J is a subgraph of L(G), each edge of which joins a vertex of L(H) to a vertex of L(K). J is an empty graph if and only if the edge direct sum H + K is direct.

<u>Proof</u>. The fact that L(H) and L(K) are disjoint follows by noticing that if some vertex were simultaneously in L(H)and in L(K), then there would exist an edge in G common to H and K contradicting the hypothesis that H and K are edge disjoint.

Since every edge of G lies either in H or in K, every vertex of L(G) is contained in either L(H) or L(K). An edge of L(G) is determined by two adjacent edges in G, and two such edges may lie both in H, both in K, or else one of the two adjacent edges must lie in H and the other in K resulting in an edge of L(H), an edge of L(K), or an edge neither in L(H) nor in L(K) but rather an edge joining a vertex of L(H) to a vertex of L(K), respectively. Let J denote the collection of all edges in L(G) joining a vertex of L(H) to a vertex of L(K). We shall refer to an edge contained in a subgraph such as J as a "cross edge." It is now seen that L(G) can be expressed as the edge direct sum L(H) + L(K) + J.

If H + K is a direct sum, then the fact that J is an empty graph is a simple consequence of Corollary 4.5.1. On

the other hand, if H + K is an edge direct sum but not a direct sum, then since H and K have no isolated vertices and are both nontrivial, it is easily seen that an edge of H must be adjacent to an edge of K producing an edge in J. Q.E.D.

Immediate consequences of this theorem will be given next.

<u>Corollary 4.6.1</u> If H is a nonempty subgraph of G, then L(H) is a subgraph of L(G).

<u>Corollary 4.6.2</u> If H is a nonempty section graph of G, then L(H) is a section graph of L(G).

<u>Corollary 4.6.3</u> If H is a nonempty subgraph of G and G - H is the complement of H in G, then L(G-H) is the complement of L(H) in L(G) if and only if H and G-H are disjoint, i.e., if and only if H is the sum of components of G. <u>Corollary 4.6.4</u> If G is expressed as the edge direct sum Σ H₁, where the H₁ are without isolated vertices, then the L(H₁) are pairwise disjoint, and L(G) can be expressed as the edge direct sum Σ L(H₁) + J, where J is a subgraph of L(G), each edge of which joins a vertex of some L(H₁) to a vertex of some L(H_j), $i \neq j$. J is an empty graph if and only if the edge direct sum Σ H₁ is direct.

We now return to regular graphs in order to present a theorem which solves the problem proposed by Ore of determining all graphs isomorphic to their line-graphs (see [11], page 21, problem 5). The proof we give is chosen as an application of Theorem 4.1. <u>Theorem 4.7</u> The only graphs which are isomorphic to their line-graphs are the regular graphs of degree two.

<u>Proof</u>. Let G be regular of degree two. By Corollary 4.5.1, we may assume G to be connected. Let the vertices of G be a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n , ordered in such a way that the resulting n edges are (a_1, a_2) , (a_2, a_3) , . . , (a_{n-1}, a_n) , (a_n, a_1) , whose corresponding vertices in L(G) are b_1 , b_2 , \ldots , b_{n-1} , b_n , respectively. The one-to-one correspondence $a_i \longleftrightarrow b_i$ (i = 1, 2, . . ., n) is then easily seen to be an isomorphism between G and L(G).

Conversely, let G be a graph which is isomorphic to its line-graph L(G). Let G have n vertices, say v₁, v₂, . . ., v_n, and m edges. Hence, L(G) has m vertices, and since G and L(G) are isomorphic, m = n. If G has T triangles, then L(G) too must have T triangles implying that T = T + $\sum_{i=1}^{n} {\binom{p(v_i)}{3}}$ (from Theorem 4.1) or that $\sum_{i=1}^{n} {\binom{p(v_i)}{3}} = 0$, so that

$$\begin{split} &\rho(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{i}}) \leq 2 \text{ for all } \mathbf{i} = 1, 2, \dots, n. \text{ Since } \mathbf{m} = n, \\ &n = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{\rho(\mathbf{v}_{i})}{2}, \text{ but } \rho(\mathbf{v}_{i}) \leq 2 \text{ so } \binom{\rho(\mathbf{v}_{i})}{2} = 1 \text{ or } 0 \\ &\text{depending on whether } \rho(\mathbf{v}_{i}) = 2 \text{ or } \rho(\mathbf{v}_{i}) < 2. \text{ However,} \\ &\text{the sum } \sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{\rho(\mathbf{v}_{i})}{2} \text{ has the value n and has n terms, so} \\ &\text{for each } \mathbf{i} = 1, 2, \dots, n, \text{ we must have } \rho(\mathbf{v}_{i}) = 2; \text{ there-} \\ &\text{fore, G is regular of degree two.} \\ \end{split}$$

Since a connected regular graph of degree two is simply a circuit, the graphs which are isomorphic to their line-graphs are those graphs whose components are simple circuits. In a like manner one can show that if G contains a circuit, then L(G) contains an isomorphic circuit. We consider the repeated line-graphs of another special type of graph next.

<u>Theorem 4.8</u> If G is an arc of length n ($n \ge 1$), then L(G) is an arc of length n-1.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $E_1 = (a_0, a_1)$, $E_2 = (a_1, a_2) \dots$, $E_n = (a_{n-1}, a_n)$ be the edges of G and let e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n be the corresponding vertices in L(G). Then the edges in L(G) are $F_1 = (e_1, e_2)$, $F_2 = (e_2, e_3)$, \dots , $F_{n-1} = (e_{n-1}, e_n)$, and so L(G) is an arc of length n-1. Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 4.8.1</u> If G is an arc of length n $(n \ge 1)$, then L^{n} (G) consists of an isolated vertex (an arc of length zero), while for $k \ge n$, there exists no graph $L^{k}(G)$.

It should be clear that the arcs and the circuits are the only connected graphs all of whose vertices have degree not exceeding two, so any other connected graph has one or more vertices of degree three or more.

<u>Theorem 4.9</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that the sequence $\{L^n(G)\}$ be infinite is that at least one component of G be other than an arc.

<u>Proof</u>. Let G be a graph such that the sequence $\{L^n(G)\}$ is infinite. If the components of G were all arcs and the maximum length of these arcs were N, then by Corollary 4.6.1, $L^k(G)$ for k > N would not exist. On the other hand, if a component G_1 of G were not an arc, then either G_1 would be a

circuit or would contain a vertex v having degree three or more. If G_1 were a circuit, $L(G_1)$ and so $L^k(G_1)$ for all k would be a circuit. If G_1 contained a vertex v incident with three edges, then $L(G_1)$ and so $L^k(G_1)$ for all k would contain a triangle. Hence, $L^k(G)$ exists for all k. Q.E.D.

<u>Definition 4.3</u> Let G be a graph for which the sequence $\{ L^n(G) \}$ is infinite. The sequence $\{ L^n(G) \}$ is said to have a <u>limit graph</u> if there exists a positive integer N such that if $m \ge N$ and $p \ge N$, then $L^m(G)$ is isomorphic to $L^p(G)$. $L^N(G)$ is then called the limit graph of $\{ L^n(G) \}$.

<u>Theorem 4.10</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that the sequence $\{L^n(G)\}$ have a limit graph is that G contain one or more components which are either simple circuits or star graphs of the type $K_{1,3}$ while any other components of G be arcs.

<u>Proof</u>. From Theorem 4.7 the only possible limit graphs are graphs whose components are simple circuits. It follows by the theorem of Whitney that with the exception of triangles, the only graph whose line-graph is a circuit is an isomorphic circuit. In the case of a triangle, it is the line-graph of both a triangle and the star graph $K_{1,3}$. In addition to $K_{1,3}$ and circuits, G may contain arcs as components, for by Corollary 4.8.1, after taking a finite number of line-graphs, we arrive at a graph containing no arcs.

Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 4.10.1</u> Let G be a graph which contains at least one component different from a circuit, the star graph $K_{1,3}$, or an arc. Then if m and p are any two nonnegative integers $(m \neq p)$, $L^{m}(G)$ and $L^{p}(G)$ are nonisomorphic.

Just as we found it useful to decompose a graph into its connected components, we find it useful to decompose connected graphs into special types of pairwise edge disjoint connected subgraphs and to investigate the relationships of such subgraphs with these types of subgraphs in the line-graph. We now introduce the following definitions, many of which may be found in Ore [11].

<u>Definition 4.4</u> An edge E of a graph G is called a <u>circuit</u> edge of G if E belongs to some circuit of G.

<u>Definition 4.5</u> An edge E = (a, b) of a graph G is a <u>separating edge</u> or <u>cut edge</u> of G if the removal of E from G results in a graph G_1 in which a and b are not connected, i.e., if a and b are not connected in the graph G_1 whose vertex set is that of G and which has all edges of G with the exception of E.

It is then a routine matter to verify the assertation: <u>Theorem</u>. An edge E is a circuit edge of a graph G if and only if it is not a separating edge of G.

<u>Definition 4.6</u> A vertex v of a graph G = G(V) is called a <u>separating vertex</u> or <u>cut point</u> of G if the removal of v (and necessarily then all edges in G incident with v) results
in a graph having a greater number of components than that of G, i.e., if G(U), where $U = V - \{v\}$, has more components than G.

If G is connected, the removal of a separating vertex results in a disconnected graph. For example, circuits and complete graphs contain no separating vertices, while, on the other hand, every vertex of degree two in an arc is a separating vertex.

<u>Definition 4.7</u> For any edge E of a graph G, the set of edges consisting of E and all edges F of G such that E and F both belong to some circuit in G forms a connected subgraph of G called the <u>block</u> (also <u>lobe graph</u>, <u>member</u>, or <u>minimal</u> <u>piece</u>) of G determined by E.

We state without proof the following well known results.

Theorem. Every edge of a graph G lies in one and only one block of G.

<u>Theorem</u>. Every block of a graph G is a section graph of G, but not conversely.

<u>Theorem</u>. Every block of a graph G is a maximal connected subgraph of G containing no separating vertices.

Theorem. Every graph is the edge direct sum of its blocks.

<u>Definition 4.8</u> The number of blocks to which a vertex v belongs is called the <u>connective index</u> of v and is denoted by i(v). It follows from the definition that a vertex v of a graph G is a separating vertex of G if and only if i(v) > 1.

<u>Definition 4.9</u> A nontrivial graph containing a single block is called a <u>nonseparable graph</u>.

We now resume our investigations of line-graphs.

<u>Theorem 4.11</u> If a is any vertex in the line-graph L(G) of the graph G, then either i(a) = 1 or i(a) = 2.

<u>Proof</u>. By Krausz' theorem, any line-graph is characterized by the fact that it can be expressed as an edge direct sum of complete subgraphs in such a way that every vertex belongs to at most two of these complete subgraphs. Clearly, any complete subgraph must lie wholly in some block, so any vertex a in a line-graph is contained in at most two blocks; hence i(a) = 1 or i(a) = 2.

Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 4.12</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that a vertex e in the line-graph L(G) of a graph G be a separating vertex is that the corresponding edge E in G be a nonterminal separating edge of G.

<u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality we may assume G and therefore L(G) to be connected graphs. Let E be a nonterminal separating edge of G, and let e be the corresponding vertex in L(G). If G_1 is the graph obtained from G by deleting E, then we see that $L(G_1)$ is the graph obtained from L(G) by deleting e. Since E is nonterminal, neither of the two components of G_1 can be isolated vertices; hence $L(G_1)$ is a disconnected graph implying that e is a separating vertex of L(G). If E were a terminal separating edge, G_1 would consist of two components, one of which would be an isolated vertex,

so $L(G_1)$ would be connected. If E were a circuit edge, then G_1 would be connected as would $L(G_1)$. Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 4.13</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that an edge E = (a, b) be a separating edge of the line-graph L(G) of the graph G is that the edges A and B in G, which correspond to the vertices a and b, respectively, be separating edges of G which meet in a vertex of degree two.

<u>Proof.</u> Again, we may take G to be connected. Suppose A and B are two separating edges of G meeting in a vertex v of degree two. If the edge B is deleted from G, we obtain a disconnected graph consisting of two components; let G_1 denote that component containing v. Similarly, if the edge A is removed from G, we obtain a disconnected graph, one component of which contains v; call this component G_2 . Since G_1 and G_2 are connected, nontrivial, and edge disjoint, $L(G_1)$ and $L(G_2)$ are connected and disjoint subgraphs of L(G). It is now easy to see that $L(G_1) + L(G_2)$ is precisely the subgraph of L(G) obtained by deleting the edge E = (a,b) from L(G), where a and b are the vertices of L(G) which correspond to A and B, respectively; hence, E is a separating edge of L(G).

Conversely, let E = (a, b) be a separating edge in L(G), and let A and B be edges in G which correspond to the vertices a and b, respectively. Since it is obvious that A and B are adjacent, let v be the vertex in G common to A and B. $\rho(v) = 2$, for if another edge C were incident with v and

c were the corresponding vertex in L(G), the vertices a, b, and c would form the vertices of a triangle in L(G) contradicting the fact that E is a separating edge. If A or B were a circuit edge, then necessarily there would exist a circuit in G containing both A and B as adjacent edges in the circuit, but a circuit in a graph produces an isomorphic circuit in its line-graph; however, this resulting circuit in L(G) would contain E as a circuit edge, again leading to a contradiction.

We see then that the only way of producing a separating edge in a line-graph L(G) is to have two separating edges in G which meet in a vertex of degree two. By carrying the argument one step further, we see that in order to have two separating edges in a line-graph L(G) meeting in a vertex of degree two, the graph G must contain an arc of three separating edges, each adjacent pair meeting in a vertex of degree two. It is also seen that G must have this property in order that $L^2(G)$ contain a separating edge. Let us state some consequences of Theorem 4.13 in a more formal way.

Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 4.13.1</u> The line-graph L(G) of the graph G has m pairwise disjoint arcs of lengths n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_m $(n_1 \ge 1)$ consisting only of separating edges if and only if G has m pairwise edge disjoint arcs of lengths $n_1 + 1, n_2 + 1,$ $\ldots, n_m + 1$ consisting only of separating edges, where any two adjacent separating edges in an arc meet in a vertex of degree two.

<u>Proof</u>. By arguments analogous to those used in the proof of Theorem 4.13, one sees directly that if G has an arc of length $n_i + l$ consisting only of separating edges, each adjacent pair of which has a vertex of degree two in common, then this results in an arc of n_i separating edges, and two such arcs in G which are edge disjoint produce two disjoint arcs in L(G). The converse follows, again, by repeated application of the methods set forth in the proof of Theorem 4.13.

<u>Corollary 4.13.2</u> If G is a graph containing k separating edges, $k \ge 1$, then L(G) has fewer than k separating edges.

<u>Proof</u>. An arc of m separating edges, $m \ge 2$, in G, each adjacent pair having a vertex of degree two in common, produces an arc of m - 1 separating edges in L(G), and such an arc in L(G) can be obtained in no other way; hence, the number of separating edges decreases as we pass from G to L(G).

Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 4.13.3</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that the graph $L^{m}(G)$ contain a separating edge is that G contain an arc of m + 1 separating edges, each adjacent pair of which has a vertex of degree two in common.

<u>Corollary 4.13.4</u> Let the separating edges of $L^{m}(G)$ be denoted by E_1, E_2, \ldots, E_k , and assume that no two of these edges are adjacent. Then in G, there are k edge disjoint arcs of length m + 1, each arc consisting only of separating edges, and each pair of adjacent separating edges in any such arc has a vertex of degree two in common.

We conclude this section with a theorem which will be greatly strengthened in Section 7.

<u>Theorem 4.14</u> For any connected graph G which is not an arc, there exists a nonnegative integer N such that for all $p \ge N$, $L^p(G)$ is a nonseparable graph, where the smallest value of N is (i) N = 0 if G is nonseparable, (ii) N = 1 if G contains separating vertices but no separating edges, and (iii) N = m + 1 if G contains separating edges, and m is the length of the longest arc in G consisting entirely of separating edges, each adjacent pair of edges in the arc having a vertex of degree two in common.

<u>Proof</u>. (i) follows as a direct result of Theorem 4.12, (ii) from Theorem 4.13, and (iii) follows from Theorem 4.13 and Corollary 4.13.3.

Q.E.D.

SECTION 5

THE CONNECTIVITY OF LINE-GRAPHS

In Section 4 it was shown that if G is a graph without isolated vertices, then the line-graph L(G) is connected if and only if G is connected. This and other results in the preceding section imply that if G is a connected graph which is not an arc, then $\{L^n(G)\}$ is an infinite sequence of connected graphs. In this section the twin topics of edge connectivity and (vertex) connectivity are considered. We begin by giving a definition due to Ore [11].

<u>Definition 5.1</u> A nontrivial graph G = G(V) is <u>m-edge</u> <u>connected</u> if there exists no nonempty proper subset A of V such that the total number of edges joining a vertex of A to a vertex of $\overline{A} = V - A$ is less than m.

According to this definition, every nontrivial graph is O-edge connected.

<u>Definition 5.2</u> The largest value of m for which a graph G is m-edge connected is called the <u>edge connectivity</u> of G and is denoted by $k_0 = k_0$ (G).

Theorems stated by Ore dealing with edge connectivity include:

<u>Theorem</u>. A nontrivial graph is connected if and only if it has edge connectivity $k_0 \ge 1$. <u>Theorem</u>. For any graph G = G(V) with edge connectivity k_0 , $k_0 \le \min_{v \in V} \rho(v)$. <u>V \in V</u> <u>Theorem</u>. A connected graph G has edge connectivity $k_0 = 1$ if and only if G has a separating edge.

The next two theorems will show that the concept of edge connectivity can be approached from a different direction if we limit our discussion to connected graphs.

<u>Theorem 5.1</u> A nontrivial graph G = G(V) is m-edge connected, m ≥ 1 , if and only if the removal of any k edges, $0 \leq k < m$, from G results in a connected graph.

<u>Proof</u>. Let G be a graph which is m-edge connected, where $m \ge 1$. G is therefore connected. Assume, to the contrary, that there is some set of k edges, $0 \le k \le m$, which, when deleted from G, disconnects it. If G₁ is the graph obtained from G by removing these k edges, then it follows that G₁ can be expressed as a direct sum: H₁ + H₂. If the vertex set of H₁ is A and that of H₂ is $\overline{A} = V - A$, then the number of edges in G joining a vertex of A to a vertex of \overline{A} is at most k, but k < m, and this contradicts the fact that G is m - edge connected.

Let G be a graph having the property that the removal of any k edges, where $0 \le k < m$, from G results in a connected graph. Suppose that G is not m - edge connected. Then there is a proper subset A of V such that only ℓ edges, $\ell < m$, join a vertex of A to a vertex of $\overline{A} = V - A$. However, the deletion of these $\boldsymbol{\ell}$ edges clearly results in a disconnected subgraph of G, and this is a contradiction. Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 5.2</u> A graph G = G(V) has edge connectivity k_0 if and only if k_0 is the minimal number of edges required to be deleted from G in order that the resulting graph be disconnected.

<u>Proof</u>. If G is a disconnected graph, then $k_0 = 0$, and the result follows in a trivial manner.

Let G be a graph having edge connectivity $k_0 \ge 1$. Then G is k_0 - edge connected but not $(k_0 + 1)$ - edge connected. By Theorem 5.1, it follows that the deletion of any k edges from G, where $k < k_0$, results in a connected subgraph of G; however, since G is not $(k_0 + 1)$ - edge connected, the removal of some set of k_0 edges from G must produce a disconnected subgraph of G. Therefore, k_0 is the minimal number of edges, which, when removed from G, results in a disconnected graph.

Conversely, suppose k_0 , $k_0 \ge 1$, is the minimal number of edges required to be eliminated from G in order that the resulting graph be disconnected. This immediately implies that G is k_0 - edge connected but not $(k_0 + 1)$ - edge connected and so has edge connectivity k_0 . Q.E.D.

An important theorem and corollary are stated next (see Berge [2]).

<u>Theorem</u>. A necessary and sufficient condition that a graph G be m-edge connected is that every two vertices of G be joined by at least m arcs which are pairwise edge disjoint.

<u>Corollary</u>. A necessary and sufficient condition that a graph G have edge connectivity m is that every two vertices of G be joined by at least m arcs which are pairwise edge disjoint, while there are at least two vertices of G which are joined by no more than m pairwise edge disjoint arcs.

As we stated earlier, Ore showed that for any graph G = G(V) with edge connectivity k_0 , $k_0 \leq \min_{V \in V} \rho(v)$. We shall give a condition under which equality will hold, a fact which we shall use later. A lemma is needed here.

<u>Lemma 5.3</u> Let G = G(V) be a graph of order n. If $\rho(v) \ge \frac{n-1}{2}$ for all $v \in V$, then G is connected.

<u>Proof</u>. If G were not connected and a and b were vertices in two different components of G, then each component would contain at least $1 + \frac{n-1}{2} = \frac{n+1}{2}$ vertices, contradicting the fact that G has order n.

Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 5.4</u> Let G = G(V) be a graph of order n. If $\rho(v) \ge \frac{n-1}{2}$ for all $v \in V$, then G has edge connectivity $k_0 = r$, where $r = \min \rho(v)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Because $k_0 \leq r$, it suffices to show that the assumption $k_0 < r$ leads to a contradiction. Since G has edge connectivity k_0 (and $k_0 \neq 0$ by Lemma 5.3), there is a nonempty proper subset A of V such that precisely k_0 edges

join A to $\overline{A} = V - A$. Assume that these k_0 edges are incident with m vertices of A. Certainly, $m \leq k_0$. If A contains only m vertices, then the number of edges in G incident with two vertices of A is at least $\frac{1}{2}(mr - k_0) > \frac{1}{2}(mr - r) =$ $\frac{1}{2}r(m-1) > \frac{1}{2}m(m-1) = {m \choose 2}$, but this is impossible since the maximum number of edges in the section graph G(A) is ${m \choose 2}$. Likewise, a contradiction is reached if \overline{A} contained only vertices adjacent to vertices of A. Suppose, then, that both A and \overline{A} contain some vertices adjacent only to vertices in their respective subsets. Then A and \overline{A} must both contain at least r + 1 vertices; G would have 2r + 2vertices; however, $2r + 2 > 2r + 1 \ge n$, which is a contradiction.

Q.E.D.

We next investigate the relationship between the edge connectivity of a graph and that of its line-graph.

<u>Theorem 5.5</u> If a graph G = G(V) is m-edge connected, then its line-graph L(G) is (2m - 2) - edge connected.

<u>Proof</u>. The result is trivial if m = 0. If G is l-edge connected, then G is connected, as is L(G), so L(G) is in fact l-edge connected.

Suppose, then, that G is m-edge connected, where $m \ge 2$. We shall show that L(G) is (2m - 2) - edge connected. Let the vertex set of L(G) be denoted by W. It sufficies to show that if W₁ is any nonempty proper subset of W, then these are at least 2m - 2 edges of L(G) joining vertices of W₁ to vertices of W₂ = W - W₁.

Since G is certainly connected, L(G) is also connected. Thus, there must be at least one edge of L(G) joining a vertex of W_1 to a vertex of W_2 ; let this edge be E = (a,b), where a \in W₁ and b \in W₂. Also, let A and B denote those edges in G which correspond to a and b, respectively. Since a and b are adjacent in L(G), A and B are adjacent in G; so let $A = (u_1, u)$ and $B = (v_1, u)$. From a previously mentioned theorem, $\rho(u) \ge m$ because $k_0 \ge m$, where k_0 denotes the edge connectivity of G. Hence, there are at least m edges in G incident with u. Consider the star subgraph S of G made up of A, B, and any other m-2 edges which are incident with u. L(S) is a complete subgraph C of L(G), where the vertex set U of C consists of m vertices of W. Now, a E U and b ϵ U; so the vertex decomposition W = W₁ U W₂ induces the vertex decomposition $U = U_1 \bigcup U_2$, where $U_1 \subset W_1$ and U_2 C $\text{W}_2\text{,}$ and where both U_1 and U_2 are nonempty proper subsets of U.

Let the vertices of U_1 be denoted by $a = a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_k$ and the vertices of U_2 be denoted by $b = b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_{m-k}$. Also, let the corresponding edges in G (the edges of S) be denoted by A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_k and $B_1, B_2, \ldots, B_{m-k}$. There is no loss of generality in assuming $k \leq m-k$. Since C is complete, all edges (a_1, b_j) , $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$; j = 1, 2, . . , m-k are present; hence, there are at least k(m-k) edges joining W_1 with W_2 .

Now there are at least m pairwise edge disjoint arcs in G joining u_1 to v_1 , say:

 $P_{1} : E_{11}, E_{12}, \dots, E_{1n1}$ $P_{2} : E_{21}, E_{22}, \dots, E_{2n2}$ \dots $P_{m} : E_{m1}, E_{m2}, \dots, E_{mn_{m}}.$

If the edge A appears in such an arc, it can only appear in one, and if it does, then it must be some E_{11} . Similarly, B can only appear once and only then as some E_{jn_i} . Hence, except for the one possible E_{j1} which may be A itself, all edges E_{i1} are adjacent to A. Similarly, all edges E_{jn} , are adjacent to B, with one possible exception. Clearly, none of the edges E_{11} can be any of the edges B_1 , B_2, \ldots, B_{m-k} . All this shows that in L(G) there are at least m arcs joining a to b which are disjoint except at the vertices a and b. If we eliminate these arcs among P_1 , P_2 , . . , P_m which contain any of the edges A_1 , A_2 , . . , $A_{\bf k},$ there still remain at least m-k arcs. We have already seen that the line-graph of an arc is an arc (of length one less than the original). Hence, corresponding to the m-k (or more) arcs just mentioned are m-k (or more) arcs in L(G), none of which contain any of the vertices a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_k . Also, a_1 is adjacent to the initial vertex of each of these arcs; however, no initial vertex is one of the vertices $b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_{m-k}$. Moreover, the terminal vertex of each of the m-k (or more) arcs in L(G) is either b_1 or is adjacent to b_1 . Clearly, each such arc must contain at least one edge joining a vertex of W_1 to a vertex of W_2 , and none of these edges can coincide. Also such edges cannot possibly be of the fomr (a_1, b_j) , for this situation has been eliminated. Thus, there must be at least m-k edges joining a vertex of W_1 to a vertex of W_2 in addition to the k(m-k) edges (a_1, b_j) giving k(m-k) + (m-k) = (k + 1) (m-k) edges in all joining a vertex of W_1 to a vertex of W_2 . However, for k = 1, 2, . . ., $[\frac{m}{2}]$, (k + 1) (m-k) assumes its minimum value when k = 1. Therefore, at least 2(m-1) = 2m-2 edges join a vertex of W_1 to a vertex of W_2 , and so L(G) is (2m-2) - edge connected. Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 5.5.1</u> Let G be a graph having edge connectivity k_0 , and let k_1 denote the edge connectivity of its line-graph L(G). Then $k_1 \ge 2k_0 - 2$.

<u>Proof</u>. If G has edge connectivity k_0 , then G is k_0 - edge connected, and by Theorem 5.5, L(G) is $(2k_0 - 2)$ edge connected. Hence, $k_1 \ge 2k_0 - 2$.

<u>Corollary 5.5.2</u> If G is regular of degree r, $r \ge 2$, and $k_0 = r$, and k_n denotes the edge connectivity of $L^n(G)$, then $k_n = 2^n(r-2) + 2$. In particular, if G is a regular graph of degree r and order n, where $r \ge \frac{n-1}{2}$, then $k_n = 2^n(r-2) + 2$.

<u>Proof</u>. If the graph G, regular of degree r, has edge connectivity $k_0 = r$, then Theorem 5.5 implies that L(G) has edge connectivity $k_1 \ge 2r - 2$; however, L(G) is regular of degree 2r - 2 and so $k_1 \le 2r - 2$. Therefore, $k_1 = 2r - 2$.

If G is a regular graph of degree r and order n, where $r \ge \frac{n-1}{2}$, then Theorem 5.4 shows that $k_0 = r$ and $k_1 = 2r - 2$ as before. The last statement follows by induction.

Q.E.D.

Analogous to the concept of edge connectivity is that of vertex connectivity. The definition we give is a slight variation of that given by Ore.

<u>Definition 5.3</u> Let G = G(V) be a nontrivial graph and let A be a nonempty proper subset of V. A vertex a of A is called an <u>interior vertex</u> of G(A) if a is adjacent only to vertices of A. A vertex of A adjacent to vertices both in A and $\overline{A} = V - A$ is called a <u>vertex</u> of <u>attachment</u> of G(A).

<u>Definition 5.4</u> A nontrivial graph G = G(V) is <u>m-vertex</u> <u>connected</u>, or simply <u>m-connected</u>, if either (1) G is a complete graph of order n > m, or (2) there exists no nonempty proper subset A of V with G(A) having at least one interior vertex such that the total number of vertices of attachment is less than m.

It is not difficult to show that a necessary and sufficient condition that a nontrivial graph G = G(V) contain a nonempty proper subset A of V such that the section graph G(A) have at least one interior vertex is that G be not complete. For this reason an alternative definition of "mconnected" was given for complete graphs.

A graph which is 2-connected is often called <u>doubly</u> <u>connected</u> or biconnected. A 3-connected graph is also

referred to as a triply connected graph.

<u>Definition 5.5</u> The largest value of m for which a graph G is m-connected is called the <u>vertex connectivity</u> or simply the <u>connectivity</u> of G and is denoted by $\ell_0 = \ell_0(G)$.

We next state without proof the following simple consequences of the definition of connectivity of a graph (see Ore [11]).

<u>Theorem</u>. A nontrivial graph is connected if and only if it has connectivity $\ell_{\circ} \geq 1$.

<u>Theorem</u>. A connected graph G has connectivity $\ell_{o} = 1$ if and only if G consists of a single edge or G has a separating vertex.

<u>Corollary</u>. A necessary and sufficient condition that a connected graph G consisting of more than an edge be nonseparable is that G be biconnected.

<u>Theorem</u>. If ℓ_0 is the connectivity of a graph G = G(V), then $\ell_0 \leq \min_{v \in V} \rho(v)$.

Another consequence of the definition of connectivity is presented next.

<u>Theorem 5.6</u> Let G be a graph of order n having connectivity \boldsymbol{l}_{0} . If G is complete, then $\boldsymbol{l}_{0} = n-1$, while if G is not complete, then $\boldsymbol{l}_{0} \leq n-2$.

<u>Proof.</u> If G is complete, then the largest value of m for which n > m is clearly n-l, and so $\ell_0 =$ n-l. If G is not complete, then $\ell_0 \leq$ n-2 by the preceding theorem.

Q.E.D.

We present an alternative approach to m-connectedness and connectivity, analogous to that given for m-edge connectedness and edge connectivity.

<u>Theorem 5.7</u> A graph G = G(V) is m-connected, $m \ge 1$, if and only if the removal of any k vertices, $0 \le k \le m$, results in a nontrivial connected graph.

Proof. Let G = G(V) be a graph which is m-connected, where $m \geq 1$. Clearly, G is connected. Assume, to the contrary, that there exist k vertices, 0 < k < m, which, when deleted, results in either an isolated vertex or a disconnected graph. If the removal of k vertices results in an isolated vertex, then evidently G is of order k + l, but Theorem 5.6 implies G is at most k-connected. However, k < m, and this is a contradiction. Suppose, then, that the elimination of some k vertices produces a disconnected graph H. Let us write $H = H_1 + H_2$, where H_1 and H_2 are nonempty disjoint subgraphs of H, and where the vertex sets of H_1 and H_2 are denoted by A_1 and A_2 , respectively. Let A be the union of A_1 and the previously deleted k vertices. Any vertex of A_1 is clearly an interior vertex of the section graph G(A) of G, and G(A) has at most k vertices of attachment, but k < m, and this contradicts the fact that G is m-connected.

Let G = G(V) be a graph having the property that the removal of any k vertices, $0 \le k < m$, results in a nontrivial connected graph. We shall show that G is m-connected. Assume that G is not m-connected. If G were complete and not

m-connected, then the order n of G would satisfy the inequality $n \le m$. However, then, $n-1 \le m-1$, and the deletion of any n-l vertices would leave an isolated vertex, and this would contradict the property which G enjoys. On the other hand, if G is both not complete and not m-connected, then there exists a monempty proper subset A of V such that G(A) contains interior vertices and k vertices of attachment, where $0 \le k \le m$. Clearly, though, the removal of these k vertices of attachment will produce a disconnected subgraph of G and again leads us to a contradiction.

<u>Theorem 5.8</u> A nontrivial graph G = G(V) has connectivity $\boldsymbol{\ell}_{0}$ if and only if $\boldsymbol{\ell}_{0}$ is the minimal number of vertices required to be deleted from G in order that the resulting graph be disconnected or consist of a single vertex.

<u>Proof</u>. If G is a disconnected graph, then $\ell_0 = 0$, and the result is obvious.

Let G be a graph having connectivity $\ell_0 \geq 1$. Then G is ℓ_0 - connected but not ($\ell_0 + 1$) - connected. By Theorem 5.7, it follows that the removal of any k vertices from G, where k < ℓ_0 , produces a nontrivial connected subgraph of G; however, since G is not ($\ell_0 + 1$) - connected, there must exist some set of ℓ_0 vertices, which, when removed from G results in either a disconnected graph or an isolated vertex, and so ℓ_0 is the minimal number of vertices with this property. Conversely, assume ℓ_0 , $\ell_0 \geq 1$, is the minimal number of vertices required to be eliminated from G in order that the newly-acquired graph be disconnected or consist of an isolated vertex. This implies that G is ℓ_0 connected but not ($\ell_0 + 1$) - connected; hence, G has connectivity ℓ_0 .

Perhaps the best known theorem on separation in graph theory is one due to Menger (see Berge [2]). We state some consequences of this theorem as well as some additional results.

<u>Theorem</u>. A necessary and sufficient condition that a graph G be m-connected is that every two vertices of G be joined by at least m arcs which are pairwise disjoint except for the two vertices.

<u>Theorem</u>. A necessary and sufficient condition that a graph G have connectivity ℓ_{o} is that every two vertices of G be joined by at least ℓ_{o} arcs which are pairwise disjoint except for the two vertices while there are at least two vertices of G which are joined by at most ℓ_{o} such arcs.

We are now in a position to prove the theorems in which we are interested. We first give a proof of a known simple result.

Theorem. An m-connected graph is m-edge connected.

<u>Proof</u>. If every two vertices of a graph are joined by at least m arcs which are pairwise disjoint except for the end-vertices, then every two vertices are obviously joined by at least m arcs which are pairwise edge disjoint. Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary</u>. If G is a graph having edge connectivity k_0 and connectivity ℓ_0 , then $k_0 \ge \ell_0$.

The converse of the preceding theorem is not valid. To show this, consider a graph H which is the sum of two complete graphs of the type K_{m+1} , m > 1, having precisely one vertex in common. With the aid of Theorem 5.4, it is easily seen that H has edge connectivity m and connectivity one (H is therefore m-edge connected but not m-connected). For the case where m = 5, see Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1

We do have the following result, however, in the case of line-graphs.

<u>Theorem 5.9</u> If G is an m-edge connected graph, then the line-graph L(G) is m-connected.

<u>Proof</u>. Let a and b be two arbitrary d stinct vertices of the line-graph L(G) of the m-edge connected graph G. Let $A = (u, u_1)$ and $B = (v, v_1)$ be the edges of G which correspond to the vertices a and b, respectively. Consider the vertices u and v (or u and v_1 , should u = v). Since G is m-edge connected, there exist m arcs P_i , i = 1, 2, ..., m, every two of which are edge disjoint, which join u to v. At most one P₁ contains A; however, those arcs which fail to contain A have their first edge adjacent to A. Similarly, at most one such arc contains B, but any arc not containing B has its last edge adjacent to B. Corresponding to the arcs P_i in G are then m arcs Q_i , i = 1, 2, ..., m, in L(G), which are pairwise disjoint. a lies in at most one Q_i , as does b, but any arc not containing a has its first vertex adjacent to a. Similarly, any arc Q, not containing b has its last vertex adjacent to b. This implies, then, that there exist m arcs in L(G) joining a and b, which are disjoint except for a and b. Hence, L(G) is m-connected.

Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 5.9.1</u> If G has edge connectivity k_0 and L(G) has connectivity ℓ_1 , then $k_0 \leq \ell_1$.

<u>Corollary 5.9.2</u> If G is m-connected, then L(G) is m-connected.

<u>Proof</u>. If G is m-connected, then G is also m-edge connected; thus, by Theorem 5.9, L(G) is m-connected.

Q.E.D.

One might expect a result for m-connectedness analogous to that obtained for m-edge connectedness (see Theorem 5.5); however, the following example shows that Corollary 5.9.2 cannot be improved. Let the graph J consist of two disjoint graphs of the type K_{m+1} , $m \ge 1$, the vertices of which are denoted by u_i and v_i , respectively, $i = 0, 1, \ldots, m$, where, in addition, the m edges E_i $= (u_i, v_i)$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ are inserted. J has connectivity m (and so is m - connected); however, L(J) also has connectivity m (and so is not (m+1)-connected) since the deletion of the vertices e_i (where e_i corresponds to E_i) from L(J) disconnects it. Figure 5.2 shows the case where m = 3.

It thus follows that the results obtained in Corollaries 5.5.1 and 5.9.1 are the best possible, and this constitutes a solution to the problem proposed by Ore of determining the relations between the connectivities and the edge connectivities for a graph and its line-graph (see [11], page 81, problem 2). We have the following extension.

<u>Theorem 5.10</u> If G is m-connected, then $L^2(G)$ is (2m-2) - connected.





Figure 5.2



л.

<u>Proof</u>. Since G is m-connected, it is m-edge connected. By Theorem 5.5, L(G) is (2m - 2) - edge connected. From Theorem 5.9, it then follows that $L^2(G)$ is (2m - 2) - connected. Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 5.10.1</u> If G is m-connected, then $L^{k}(G)$ is $[2^{k-1}(m-2) + 2]$ - connected and is $[2^{k}(m-2) + 2]$ - edge connected for $k \ge 1$.

<u>Proof</u>. This follows by induction on k.

Q.E.D.

We conclude this section with two corollaries to Corollary 5.10.1.

<u>Corollary 5.10.2</u> If G is a graph whose edge and vertex connectedness exceed two, then the edge connectedness and vertex connectedness of $L^{k}(G)$ are unbounded as k becomes infinite.

<u>Corollary 5.10.3</u> Let G be a graph with $k_0 \ge l_0 \ge 2$. Then lim $k_0 [L^n(G)] = \lim_{n \longrightarrow \infty} l_0 [L^n(G)] = \infty$.

SECTION 6

LINE-GRAPHS AND EULER PATHS

In this section we prove that the line-graph of a graph which contains an Euler path also contains an Euler path. Necessary and sufficient conditions are derived in order that some repeated line-graph contain an Euler path.

<u>Definition 6.1</u> A graph G without isolated vertices is said to contain an Euler path if there exists a cyclic path in G containing every edge of G, and every such cyclic path is called an <u>Euler path</u>. A graph containing an Euler path is called an <u>Euler graph</u>.

Definitions of a few other terms will be useful here.

<u>Definition 6.2</u> A vertex is called <u>even</u> or <u>odd</u> according to whether its degree is an even or odd integer. An edge is called <u>even</u> or <u>odd</u> depending on whether its degree is even or odd.

Euler graphs have been of interest to graph theorists, both professionals and amateurs alike; however, the question of whether a given graph is an Euler graph was answered by Euler in the following way.

<u>Theorem</u> (Euler). A necessary and sufficient condition that a nontrivial graph G be an Euler graph is that G be

connected and every vertex of G be even.

Lemma 6.1 Every edge of an Euler graph is even.

<u>Proof</u>. If E = (a, b) is an edge of an Euler graph, then $\rho(E) = \rho(a) + \rho(b) - 2$ is even since $\rho(a)$ and $\rho(b)$ are both even by Euler's theorem. Q.E.D.

Theorem 6.2. The line-graph of an Euler graph is an Euler graph.

<u>Proof.</u> Let G be an Euler graph and L(G) its linegraph. The degree of a vertex in L(G) has the same value as the degree of its corresponding edge in G by Lemma 4.2, which is even by Lemma 6.1. Since G is connected, L(G) is connected; hence, L(G) is an Euler graph by Euler's theorem. Q.E.D.

<u>Corollary 6.2.1</u> If G is an Euler graph, then $\{L^{n}(G)\}$ is an infinite sequence of Euler graphs.

<u>Corollary 6.2.2</u> If G is an Euler graph which is not a circuit, then $L^{m}(G)$ and $L^{n}(G)$, $m \neq n$, are nonisomorphic Euler graphs.

<u>Proof</u>. This is simply a combination of Corollaries 4.10.1 and 6.2.1.

Q.E.D.

We now determine conditions for a graph G in order that there exists a nonnegative integer k such that $L^{k}(G)$ contains an Euler path. The only possibilities are given in the following theorem. <u>Theorem 6.3</u> Let G be a connected graph which is not an arc. Then exactly one of the following four situations must occur:

- (i) G is an Euler graph,
- (ii) L(G) is an Euler graph but G is not,
- (iii) $L^{2}(G)$ is an Euler graph but L(G) is not,
- (iv) there exists no n \geq 0 such that $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph,

where

- (i) occurs if and only if every vertex of G is even,
- (ii) occurs if and only if every vertex of G is odd,
- (iii) occurs if and only if every edge of G is odd, and
 - (iv) occurs otherwise.

<u>Proof</u>. Since G is connected and not an arc, the fact that G is an Euler graph if and only if every vertex of G is even is just a restatement of Euler's theorem.

If every vertex of G is odd, then G cannot be an Euler graph (again, by Euler's theorem), but every edge of G must be even, so every vertex of L(G) is even; therefore, L(G) is an Euler graph. Conversely, suppose L(G) is an Euler graph but G is not. It follows, then, that every vertex of L(G), and hence every edge of G, is even; thus, if E = (a, b) is an edge in G, the number $\rho(a) + \rho(b) - 2$ is even. This implies, of course, that $\rho(a) + \rho(b)$ is even, or that the two vertices incident with any edge of G are either both even or both odd. Because G is not an Euler graph, though, there must be at least one edge in G incident with two odd vertices; call the edge F = (u, v). We must have all vertices of G odd then, for if w is any vertex of G either w = v and w is odd, or w \neq v and there is an arc P : $(v, v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{k-1}, w)$ between v and w (since G is connected). However, since v is odd, v_1 must also be odd (recalling that two vertices incident with an edge must be of the same parity), but (v_1, v_2) is an edge implying that v_2 is odd, etc. Finally, we arrive at w, which must be odd.

If every edge of G is odd, then every vertex of L(G)is odd, and L(G) is not an Euler graph. If, however, every vertex of L(G) is odd, then every edge of L(G) is even, so every vertex of $L^2(G)$ is even, and $L^2(G)$ is an Euler graph. Conversely, let G be a graph such that $L^2(G)$ is an Euler graph but L(G) is not an Euler graph. Whereas $L^2(G)$ is an Euler graph, the vertices of $L^2(G)$ are even, and the edges of L(G) are even. Seeing that L(G) is not an Euler graph, we can argue as in the preceding paragraph to conclude that every vertex of L(G) is necessarily odd. From this it follows that every edge of G is odd.

It remains to show that if (i), (ii), or (iii) is not satisfied by a graph G, then there is no $n \ge 0$ such that $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph. Let us assume, then, that G, L(G), and $L^{2}(G)$ are not Euler graphs, but that there does exist an $n \ge 3$ such that $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph. Let m be the smallest value of n for which $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph. Then if $0 \le k < m$, $L^{k}(G)$ is not an Euler graph. Let $G_{1} = L^{m-3}(G)$; then $G_1, L(G_1)$, and $L^2(G_1)$ are not Euler graphs while $L^3(G_1)$ is an Euler graph. Every vertex of $L^3(G_1)$ is consequently even, and by the arguments used in the two preceding paragraphs, it follows that every vertex of $L^2(G_1)$ is odd and every edge of $L(G_1)$ is odd. Because every edge of $L(G_1)$ is odd, each pair of adjacent vertices in $L(G_1)$ is of opposite parity, but this means that every two adjacent edges in G_1 have opposite parity. No vertex in G_1 can have degree exceeding two, for if three edges of G_1 had a common vertex, then there would exist two adjacent edges of G_1 having the same parity. Hence, G_1 is either a circuit or an arc; however, a circuit contains no odd edges, and G_1 cannot be an arc by hypothesis. We have thus arrived at a contradiction, and there can exist no such graph.

Q.E.D.

We conclude this section with three corollaries to the foregoing theorem.

<u>Corollary 6.3.1</u> Let G be a connected graph which is not an arc. A necessary and sufficient condition that there exist a nonnegative integer N such that $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph for all $n \ge N$ is that every edge of G be of the same parity. If such an N exists, then N < 2.

<u>Corollary 6.3.2</u> Let G be a graph such that $L^{k}(G)$ is an Euler graph, where $k \geq 3$. Then for all $n \geq 2$, $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph.

<u>Corollary 6.3.3</u> Let G be a graph, connected or not. A necessary and sufficient condition that there exists an n such that $L^{n}(G)$ is an Euler graph is that G contain one component which is not an arc and of which every edge has the same parity while all other components are arcs.

SECTION 7

SEQUENTIAL GRAPHS; LINE-GRAPHS AND HAMILTON CIRCUITS

In this section it is shown that if a graph contains a Hamilton circuit, then its line-graph also contains a Hamilton circuit. In addition, necessary and sufficient conditions are given for a graph in order that its linegraph contain a Hamilton circuit. The main result of this section is that for nearly all connected graphs, some repeated line-graph must contain a Hamilton circuit.

<u>Definition 7.1</u> A graph G is said to contain a Hamilton circuit if there exists a circuit in G passing through every vertex of G, and every such circuit is called a <u>Hamilton</u> <u>circuit</u>. A graph containing a Hamilton circuit is called a <u>Hamilton graph</u>.

It follows directly from the definition that every Hamilton graph is connected, in fact, biconnected. In spite of the strong similarities in the definitions of Euler graphs and Hamilton graphs, the differences in the two are so great that no useful characterization of Hamilton graphs has yet been found. The independence of these two definitions is illustrated in Figures 7.1 through 7.4, where all graphs are of order eight and have twelve edges.



Euler and Hamilton

Fig. 7.1



Euler but not Hamilton

Fig. 7.2



Hamilton but not Euler

Fig. 7.3



Neither Euler nor Hamilton

Fig. 7.4

If G is a connected graph which is regular of degree two, then G is a Hamilton graph. This fact is trivial since G is then a circuit; however, on the other extreme, if the degrees of the vertices are large enough in comparison with the order of the graph, then G must also contain a Hamilton circuit. A well-known theorem of this type is the following.

<u>Theorem of Dirac</u> If G = G(V) is a graph of order n and $\rho(v) \ge n/2$ for all $v \in V$, then G is a Hamilton graph.

This result was slightly strengthened by Ore [11].

<u>Theorem of Ore</u> If G = G(V) is a graph of order n and $P_1 + P_2 \ge n$, where P_1 and P_2 denote the two smallest degrees in G, then G is a Hamilton graph.

We find the following definition of considerable use to us in this section.

<u>Definition 7.2</u> A graph G having m edges, where m \geq 3, is called a <u>sequential graph</u> if the edges of G can be ordered in such a way, say E_0 , E_1 , E_2 , . . . , E_{m-1} , $E_m = E_0$, that the edges E_i and E_{i+1} , i = 0, 1, . . . , m-1, are adjacent.

Although a sequential graph has its edges arranged in a certain cyclic order, this does not imply the existence of circuits, for the star graphs $K_{l,n}$, $n \ge 3$, are sequential graphs. Two important classes of connected graphs, the Euler graphs and the Hamilton graphs, are sequential graphs. We verify these facts below. Theorem 7.1 An Euler graph is a sequential graph.

Proof. If G is an Euler graph, then G has a cyclic path P containing all the edges of G, say P : E_0 , E_1 , E_2 , . . . , E_{m-1} , $E_m = E_0$, where E_i and E_{i+1} are adjacent for all $i = 0, 1, \ldots, m-1$. Hence, G is sequential. Q.E.D.

Theorem 7.2 A Hamilton graph is a sequential graph.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $C = (a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_{n-1}, a_n = a_0)$ be a Hamilton circuit of the graph G. It is clear that every edge of G joins two vertices lying on C. In order to show G is sequential, we must exhibit an ordering of the edges of G which satisfies the property stated in Definition 7.2. Begin the ordering of the edges of G with all edges incident with a_0 not lying on C (there may be none). These may be taken in any order and are clearly adjacent to one another. We follow these with the edge (a_0, a_1) of C. The next edges in the sequence are the edges incident with a_1 which are not in C (again, there may be none). Once again, they may be permuted in any way among themselves. This is followed by (a_1, a_2) and all edges incident with a_2 which are not on C and which have not been previously considered. We continue in this way until we finally arrive at the edge (a_{n-1}, a_n) = (a_{n-1}, a_0) , which is adjacent to the first edge in the sequence. It is now a routine matter to check that every edge of G appears in the sequence once and only once and that every two consecutive edges in the sequence are adjacent, so G is a sequential graph. Q.E.D.

The chief reason for introducing sequential graphs is the following theorem.

<u>Theorem 7.3</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that the line-graph L(G) of a graph G be a Hamilton graph is that G be a sequential graph.

<u>Proof.</u> Let G be a sequential graph having m edges. Then the edges can be ordered, say E_0 , E_1 , E_2 , . . , E_{m-1} , $E_m = E_0$, such that consecutive edges in the sequence are adjacent. Let e_0 , e_1 , e_2 , . . , e_{m-1} , $e_m = e_0$ be the corresponding vertices in L(G). Since E_1 and E_{i+1} are adjacent for i = 0, 1, . . . , m-1, (e_i, e_{i+1}) is an edge in L(G) for i = 0, 1, . . . , m-1, and so $C = (e_0, e_1, e_2,$ $. . . , e_{m-1}, e_m = e_0)$ is a circuit in L(G) which contains all vertices of L(G); hence, C is a Hamilton circuit of L(G), and L(G) is a Hamilton graph.

Conversely, suppose the line-graph L(G) of the graph G is a Hamilton graph. This means that there is a circuit $C = (a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}, a_n = a_0)$ in L(G) containing every vertex of L(G). Let $A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_{n-1}, A_n = A_0$ be the edges in G which correspond to the vertices $a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}$, $a_n = a_0$, respectively. Consider the edges of G in the order just given. Since (a_1, a_{i+1}) is an edge of L(G) for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$, A_i and A_{i+1} are adjacent for i = 0, 1, $\ldots, n-1$, and therefore G is a sequential graph.

Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 7.4</u> If G is a Hamilton graph, then L(G) is a Hamilton graph.

<u>Proof</u>. If G is a Hamilton graph, then G is also a sequential graph by Theorem 7.2. By Theorem 7.3, it then follows that L(G) is a Hamilton graph.

<u>Corollary 7.4.1</u> If G is a Hamilton graph, then $L^{p}(G)$ is a Hamilton graph for all $p \ge 0$.

<u>Theorem 7.5</u> If G is a sequential graph, then L(G) is a sequential graph.

<u>Proof</u>. By Theorem 7.3, if G is a sequential graph, then L(G) is a Hamilton graph, and by Theorem 7.2, L(G) is a sequential graph.

Theorem 7.6 If G is an Euler graph, then L(G) is an Euler graph which contains a Hamilton circuit.

<u>Proof</u>. By Theorem 6.2, if G is an Euler graph, then L(G) is an Euler graph. However, by Theorem 7.1, G is also a sequential graph, and so L(G) is a Hamilton graph.

Q.E.D.

Q.E.D.

Q.E.D.

As Theorem 7.4 indicates, if G is a graph having a Hamilton circuit, then L(G) has at least one Hamilton circuit. Although there are examples of Hamilton graphs (namely, circuits) whose line-graphs have exactly one Hamilton circuit, for the most part, the line-graphs of such graphs contain more than one Hamilton circuit. (Two Hamilton circuits are called different if there is at least one edge in one not in
the other and vice versa). We shall obtain next a lower bound for the number of Hamilton circuits in the line-graph L(G) of a Hamilton graph G. To do this, we shall make use of directed graphs.

<u>Theorem 7.7</u> Let G = G(V), where V = { v_0 , v_1 , . . , v_{n-1} }, be a Hamilton graph of order n, and let C be a fixed Hamilton circuit of G. Assume G has d diagnoals so that G has m = n + d edges. Let S denote the set of the 2^d directions for G obtained by directing all edges of C in one of the two possible cyclic manners and directing the diagonals in an arbitrary manner. For each s ϵ S let $\int_0^S (v)$ denote the number of outgoing edges at v when the edges of G are directed according to s. It then follows that the number of Hamilton circuits in L(G), denoted by HC (L(G)), satisfies the following inequality:

$$HC (L(G)) \geq \sum_{s \in S} \left\{ \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} \rho_{o}^{s}(v_{j}) - 1 \right) \right] \right\} \right\}$$
$$\geq 2^{d} \left\{ \min_{s \in S} \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} \rho_{o}^{s}(v_{j}) - 1 \right) \right] \right\}$$
$$\geq 2^{d} \left\{ \operatorname{constant}_{s \in S} \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} \rho_{o}^{s}(v_{j}) - 1 \right) \right] \right\} \right\}$$

<u>Proof</u>. First, we notice that for any s \in S and every vertex v in G, $\rho_0^{S}(v) \geq 1$, since there is a circuit edge of C which is incident with v and directed away from v. A Hamilton circuit in L(G) is produced from each sequence of all the edges of G which can be constructed so that consecutive edges in the sequence are adjacent as well as the first

and last edges in the sequence being adjacent. Two sequences will be called different if there exist two edges which are consecutive (or first and last) in one sequence but are not consecutive in the other sequence. Two such "different" sequences in G correspond to two different Hamilton circuits in L(G). We now derive the first inequality given in the conclusion of the theorem, the others following directly from the first. Let $C = (v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_n = v_0)$, and let s be a fixed direction in the set S. The $\rho_0^s(v_1) - 1$ outgoing edges at vi not lying on C may be permuted in (ρ_{o}^{s} (v_j) - 1) ! ways, so as we proceed around C in a fashion similar to that in the proof of Theorem 7.2--only this time considering only outgoing edges--we see that $TT [(\rho_0^{s} (v_1) - 1) !]$ different sequences are obtained, j=0 each one satisfying the property required of sequential graphs. Since we may do this for each s \in S obtaining sequences not previously encountered, we arrive at the first inequality.

Q.E.D.

Although the first inequality in the preceding theorem can easily be seen to be an equality in the case where a Hamilton graph G contains only a single Hamilton circuit, if it should occur that G contains two or more Hamilton circuits, the procedure employed in Theorem 7.7 may be used for each Hamilton circuit, thereby obtaining a strict inequality. Since duplication of previous sequences may arise when using different Hamilton circuits of G, the lower bound in the first inequality of Theorem 7.7 cannot be replaced by summing this expression for the bound over all Hamilton circuits in G.

It is a straightforward problem to show that if C is a Hamilton circuit in a graph G such that G contains at least one diagonal, then the number of diagonals in the graphs in the sequence $\{L^n(G)\}$ of Hamilton graphs forms a strictly increasing sequence. Combining this property with the last inequality involved in the conclusion of Theorem 7.7, we are led directly to a corollary.

<u>Corollary 7.7.1</u> Let G be a Hamilton graph containing at least one diagonal. Then lim [HC ($L^{n}(G)$] = ∞ .

Before presenting the main theorem of this section, we state two lemmas.

<u>Lemma 7.8</u> If G is a graph containing a circuit C such that every edge of G is incident with at least one vertex on C, then L(G) is a Hamilton graph.

<u>Proof</u>. We show that the graph G having the properties stated in the lemma is sequential. To produce the desired ordering of the edges of G we use the same procedure as that employed in the proof of Theorem 7.2 except that after considering the diagonals at a given vertex of C, we insert in the sequence all edges which are incident with that vertex but with no other vertex of C and follow these edges, as before, by the appropriate circuit edge of C and continue in this way. The sequence of edges of G so produced is seen to have the desired properties, and G is sequential. The result now follows by Theorem 7.3.

Q.E.D.

Lemma 7.9 Let G be a graph consisting of the section graph [C] of a circuit C and m arcs P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_m , where each arc has precisely one endpoint in common with C while for $i \neq j$, P_i and P_j are disjoint except possibly having an endpoint in common if it is also common to C. If M is the maximum of the lengths of the arcs P_i , then $L^p(G)$ is a Hamilton graph for all $p \geq M$.

<u>Proof</u>. It is easily observed that L(G) has the same properties as G except that the lengths of the m resulting arcs will have decreased by one so that the maximum length among the remaining arcs is M-1 and that $L^{M}(G)$ consists of a section graph of a circuit (hence is a Hamilton graph), and $L^{p}(G)$ is a Hamilton graph for all $p \ge M$ by Corollary 7.4.1. Q.E.D.

<u>Theorem 7.10</u> If G is a connected graph of order n which is not an arc (then necessarily $n \ge 3$), then $L^{p}(G)$ is a Hamilton graph for every $p \ge n-3$.

<u>Proof</u>. We proceed by induction on n. Later developments in the proof make it necessary for us to investigate the graphs having order 3, 4, or 5. We do this now. The only connected graph of order 3 which is not an arc is the triangle, and this is already a Hamilton graph, so the result follows (with the aid of Corollary 7.4.1). For n = 4, there are only two connected graphs which are not arcs and which are not already Hamilton graphs. These graphs are shown in Figure 7.5.



Figure 7.5

We readily see that $L(G_{41})$ and $L(G_{42})$ are both Hamilton graphs, and the result is established for n = 4. There are twelve connected graphs of order 5 which are not arcs and which do not already contain Hamilton circuits. These are presented in Figure 7.6. It is then a routine matter to verify that $L^2(G_{51})$ and $L^2(G_{52})$ contain Hamilton circuits and that $L(G_{51})$, $i = 3, 4, \ldots$, 12, contain Hamilton circuits. This establishes the theorem for the case when n = 5.

Let us assume then that for all connected graphs G' which are not arcs and which have order s, where s < n and $n \ge 6$, $L^p(G')$ is a Hamilton graph for every $p \ge s - 3$. Let G be a connected graph of order n which is other than an arc.



Figure 7.6

We shall show that $L^{n-3}(G)$ is a Hamilton graph which, with the use of Corollary 7.4.1, will provide a proof of the theorem.

The theorem is clearly true if G is a circuit, so, without any loss in generality, we may assume that G is not a circuit and that G contains at least one vertex v of degree three or more. Let H denote the subgraph of G consisting of v and those edges of G which are incident with v. We denote the vertex set of G by V and let $U = V - \{v\}$. Denote the section graph G(U) of G by Q. We then can write G = H + Q, where H and Q are edge disjoint. (If G is a star graph, then Q consists only of isolated vertices.) Let the connected components of Q be denoted by G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_k , where $G_1, i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$, is of order n_1 . Then $\sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i = n-1$.

If G_i is an arc, then $L^{n_i}(G_i)$ is an empty set while if G_i is other than an arc, then $L^p(G_i)$, for $p \ge n_i - 3$, contains a Hamilton circuit by the inductive hypothesis.

The line-graph $H_1 = L(H)$ of H is a complete subgraph of L(G) which, considered as a graph by itself, contains a Hamilton circuit. Let J_1 denote the subgraph of L(G) consisting of H_1 and all the "cross edges" from H_1 to the $L(G_1)$, i = 1, 2, ..., k. Therefore, L(G) can be expressed as the edge direct sum $J_1 + L(G_1) + L(G_2) + ... + L(G_k)$, where for $i \neq j$, L(G₁) and L(G_j) are disjoint. Observe that any arc joining a vertex of L(G₁) to a vertex of L(G_j) must necessarily contain at least two edges of J_1 . Let $H_2 = L(J_1)$ and let J_2 denote the subgraph of $L^2(G)$ consisting of H_2 and all the cross edges from H_2 to the $L^2(G_1)$, i = 1, 2, ...,k. Then $L^2(G) = J_2 + L^2(G_1) + L^2(G_2) + ... + L^2(G_k)$. Since J_1 satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 7.8, H_2 contains a Hamilton circuit. In general, let J_m denote the subgraph of $L^m(G)$ consisting of H_m plus all the cross edges joining H_m to the $L^m(G_1)$, and let $H_{m+1} = L(J_m)$. $L^m(G)$ can then be expressed as the edge direct sum $J_m + L^m(G_1) + L^m(G_2) + ...$ $+ L^m(G_k)$. By Lemma 7.8, it also follows that H_m (considered as a graph itself) contains a Hamilton circuit.

We now consider two cases.

<u>Case 1</u>. Suppose the components G_1 , G_2 , . . . , G_k of Q are all arcs (which includes the possibility of isolated vertices). If the number of components k is at least three, then no n_1 can exceed n - 3, and $L^{n-3}(G) = H_{n-3}$, which contains a Hamilton circuit. If k = 2 and the orders of G_1 and G_2 do not exceed n - 3, then, as before, $L^{n-3}(G) = H_{n-3}$. If, on the other hand, k = 2, and one component, say G_1 , has order n - 2 while G_2 is an isolated vertex, then H and G_1 have at least two vertices in common, and G consists of a section graph of a circuit and j pairwise disjoint arcs, $1 \le j \le 3$, each having precisely one endpoint in common with the circuit. Since none of these arcs has length exceeding n - 4, it follows by Lemma 7.9 that $L^{n-4}(G)$ (and so also $L^{n-3}(G)$) contains a Hamilton circuit.

If k = 1, then Q is an arc G₁ having at least three vertices in common with H so that G consists of a section graph of a circuit and j pairwise disjoint arcs, $0 \le j \le 2$, each arc having exactly one endpoint in common with the circuit. If j = 0, G contains a Hamilton circuit while if j > 0, no arc extending from the aforementioned circuit can have length exceeding n - 4, and by Lemma 7.9, L^{n-4} (G) contains a Hamilton circuit as does $L^{n-3}(G)$.

<u>Case 2</u>. Assume the first \mathcal{L} components, $1 \leq \mathcal{L} \leq k$, of G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_k are not arcs. Clearly, each of the components $G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_{\mathcal{L}}$ must have order at least three. If $\mathcal{L} < k$, then $G_{\mathcal{L}+1}, G_{\mathcal{L}+2}, \ldots, G_k$ are arcs, each having an order not exceeding n - 4, so $L^{n-4}(G) = J_{n-4} + L^{n-4}(G_1) + \dots + L^{n-4}(G_{\mathcal{L}})$. Since each $G_1, i = 1, 2, \dots, \mathcal{L}$, has order not exceeding n - 1, the subgraphs $L^{n-4}(G_1)$, considered as graphs, each contains a Hamilton circuit by the inductive hypothesis. There is clearly at least one edge from H_{n-5} to each of the subgraphs $L^{n-5}(G_1), \dots, L^{n-5}(G_{\mathcal{L}})$. We next show that there is at least one cross edge from H_{n-5} adjacent to at least two edges of $L^{n-5}(G_1)$ for each $i = 1, 2, \dots, \mathcal{L}$.

If $\boldsymbol{\ell} = 1$, then G_1 is the only component of Q which is not an arc. If k > 1, G_1 has order at most n - 2, so $L^{n-5}(G_1)$ contains a Hamilton circuit and clearly such a cross edge exists. If k = 1, then $Q = G_1$ and all edges of H are incident with vertices of G_1 . Since a cross edge to a subgraph which is not an arc results in one or more new cross edges in the following line-graph, there are at least three cross edges from H_{n-5} to $L^{n-5}(G_1)$. If no such cross edge were adjacent to at least two edges of $L^{n-5}(G_1)$, then clearly each of the three or more cross edges is adjacent to precisely one edge of $L^{n-5}(G_1)$. This implies that $L^{n-5}(G_1)$ contains three or more separating edges, which implies, by Corollary 4.13.3, that G_1 contains three arcs, each having n - 4 separating edges, meaning that G_1 contains at least 3(n-4) + 1 vertices, but for n ≥ 6 , 3(n-4) + 1 > n-1contradicting the order of G_1 .

Suppose l > 1, i.e., suppose Q contains two or more components which are not arcs. Therefore, G_1 and G_2 are not arcs and have orders at most n - 4. If there is a cross edge from H_{n-5} adjacent to only one edge of $L^{n-5}(G_1)$, say, then $L^{n-5}(G_1)$ contains a separating edge, and by Corollary 4.13.3, G_1 must contain an arc of n - 4 separating edges which contradicts the order of G_1 .

We can thus conclude that there exists a cross edge from H_{n-5} to $L^{n-5}(G_1)$ adjacent to two edged of $L^{n-5}(G_1)$ for each i = 1, 2, . . , l. This implies that for each i = 1, 2, . . , l, there is a vertex u_1 in H_{n-4} adjacent to both endpoints of an edge in $L^{n-4}(G_1)$.

We now claim that $L^{n-4}(G)$ is a sequential graph so that $L^{n-3}(G)$ contains a Hamilton circuit. To show this we order the edges of $L^{n-4}(G)$ as follows. Since H_{n-4} itself contains a Hamilton circuit C, we start at some vertex v of C. If the vertex v is not one of the u_i , we begin with the

71

diagonals of C at v, the edges incident with v but with no other vertex on C, and then take an edge of C incident with v leading us to a new vertex of C. We continue with this method, proceeding around C, until one of the vertices u; is encountered. At such a vertex u;, we begin with the diagonals of C at u; not previously taken (as before), all the edges incident with u_i but incident with no other vertex on C except those two edges previously singled out, say E_{i1} and E_{i2} , which lead to the endpoints of an edge F_i in $L^{n-4}(G_i)$. Next, take E_{i1} , say, leading us into $L^{n-4}(G_i)$, which, by the inductive hypothesis, contains a Hamilton circuit C_1 . If F_1 is on C_1 , we proceed around C_1 in the customary way (i.e., taking diagonals and a circuit edge of C_{i} in that order), taking F_{i} last and then taking E_{i2} back to u_i . If F_i is not on C_i , i.e., if F_i is a diagonal of C_i , then as we proceed around C_1 , leave out F_1 until all other edges in $L^{n-4}(G_1)$ have been taken, then take F_1 , and then E_{12} back to u_1 on C. We then continue around C following one of the two procedures outlined depending on whether the vertex encountered is or is not one of the ui. It is easily seen that the sequence has the properties necessary for $L^{n-4}(G)$ to be a sequential graph. Q.E.D.

The preceding theorem now permits us to make the following definition.

<u>Definition 7.3</u> Let G be a connected graph which is not an arc. The Hamilton index of G, denoted by h(G), is the

72

smallest nonegative integer p such that $L^{p}(G)$ contains a Hamilton circuit.

We can now restate Theorem 7.10 in the following way: If G is a connected graph of order n which is not an arc, then h(G) exists and $h(G) \leq n-3$.

To show that the bound given in Theorem 7.10 cannot be improved, we note that for every $n \ge 3$, there are graphs whose Hamilton index is n - 3. The graphs G_1 and G_2 shown in Figure 7.7 have Hamilton indices n - 3.



Figure 7.7

We conclude this section with a conjecture.

<u>Conjecture</u>. Let G be a connected graph of order n, $n \ge 4$, containing a vertex v with $\rho(v) = r$, where $3 \le r \le n - 1$. Then $h(G) \le n - r$.

SECTION 8

TRIANGLE RELATIONS IN REPEATED LINE-GRAPHS OF REGULAR GRAPHS

In this section we investigate some numerical results concerning the number of vertices and edges in repeated line-graphs of arbitrary regular graphs having degree r, where r > 2, as well as some related triangle relations in such graphs. We show that in spite of the ever-increasing maze of edges which appears in repeated line-graphs of such graphs G, the more probable it becomes as n approaches infinity that if three vertices are selected at random from $L^{n}(G)$, no two of the three vertices will be adjacent.

Let G_0 be an arbitrary regular graph of degree $r_0 > 2$ having n_0 vertices, m_0 edges, and T_3^{0} triangles. Let $G_1 = L(G_0)$ and, in general, define $G_{i+1} = L(G_i) = L^{i+1}(G_0)$ for each i = 0, 1, 2, ... As we proved in Section 4, each G_i is regular. To fix the notation, let G_i be of order n_i and regular of degree r_i having m_i edges and T_3^{-1} triangles. For the graph G_{i+1} the following relations are a direct consequence of Theorems 4.1 and 4.4.

(1) $n_{i+1} = m_i$ (2) $r_{i+1} = 2 (r_i-1)$ (3) $m_{i+1} = n_i {\binom{r_i}{2}}$

74

(4)
$$T_3^{i+1} = T_3^i + n_i \begin{pmatrix} r_i \\ 3 \end{pmatrix}$$
.

We introduce the even integers Q_{i+1} , i = 0, 1, 2, . . , by means of the following equation.

(5) $2Q_{i+1} = n_{i+1} r_{i+1}$.

We find it useful to repeat a result of Theorem 4.4 here which was derived using mathematical induction and (2).

(6) $r_i = 2^i(r_0 - 2) + 2.$

Because of the fact that

(7) $2m_{i+1} = n_{i+1} r_{i+1}$, it follows by (1) and (2) that

 $(8) m_{i+1} = (r_i-1) m_i$,

and by repeated application of (8), we find, using (6), that (9) $m_{i+1} = m_0 \prod_{k=0}^{i} (r_k-1) = m_0 \prod_{k=0}^{i} [2^k(r_0-2) + 1].$

<u>Lemma 8.1</u> $Q_{i+1} = m_{i+1} r_{i+1} = m_{i+1} + m_{i+2}$.

<u>Proof.</u> By (5) and (7), it follows that $Q_{i+1} = m_{i+1}r_{i+1}$. Rewriting, $Q_{i+1} = m_{i+1} + m_{i+1}(r_{i+1}-1) = m_{i+1} + m_{i+2}$ by (8). Q.E.D.

We define the quantity A_i , i = 0, 1, 2, . . , as follows.

(10)
$$A_i = 6 T_3^i - m_{i+1}$$
.

Lemma 8.2 $A_{i+1} = A_i$, i.e., A_i is independent of i. <u>Proof</u>. By (10) we have (i) $A_{i+1} = 6 T_3^{i+1} - m_{i+2}$ (ii) $= 6 T_3^i + 6n_i ({}^{r_i}_3) - m_{i+2} - m_{i+1} + m_{i+1}$, by (4) and by subtraction and addition of m_{i+1} . By (10) again, it follows that

(iii)
$$A_{i+1} = A_i + 6n_i ({}_{3}^{r_i}) + m_{i+1} - m_{i+2}$$

(iv) $= A_i + n_i ({}_{2}^{r_i}) \cdot 2 (r_i - 2) + m_{i+1} - m_{i+2}$

It is now sufficient to show that (iv) has the value A_i . By (3) and (2), $m_{i+1} = n_i \binom{r_i}{2}$ and 2 $(r_i-2) = 2(r_i-1) - 2 = r_{i+1} - 2$ so that (iv) can now be written as

(v)
$$A_i + m_{i+1} (r_{i+1} - 2) + m_{i+1} - m_{i+2}$$

= $A_i + m_{i+1} r_{i+1} - (m_{i+1} + m_{i+2}) = A_i$
by Lemma 8.1. Q.E.D.

$$\underline{\text{Corollary 8.2.1}} \qquad 6T_3^{i} = m_{i+1} + A_o$$

In any graph the section graph determined by three vertices may consist of three edges (thereby resulting in a triangle) two edges, one edge, or no edges at all. Using the terminology originated by Nordhaus and Stewart [10], we say that a subgraph consisting of three vertices and the j edges, j = 0, 1, 2, 3, which they determine is a triangle of type T_j . A triangle of type T_3 is simply a triangle while a triangle of type T_0 is a subgraph consisting of three isolated vertices, i.e., an "empty" triangle. We denote the number of triangles of type T_j in G_i by T_j^i .

Since any three vertices in G₁ determine a triangle of type T_0 , T_1 , T_2 , or T_3 , it follows that:

(11)
$$T_0^i + T_1^i + T_2^i + T_3^i = \binom{n_i}{3}$$
, or
(12) $\frac{T_0^i}{\binom{n_i}{3}} + \frac{T_1^i}{\binom{n_i}{3}} + \frac{T_2^i}{\binom{n_i}{3}} + \frac{T_3^i}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = 1$.

We state two relations given in [10], which may readily be derived from elementary considerations:

$$(13) T_{2}^{i} + 3 T_{3}^{i} = Q_{i} - m_{i}$$

$$(14) 3T_{3}^{i} = T_{1}^{i} + 2Q_{i} - m_{i} n_{i}.$$
Eliminating T_{3}^{i} in (13) and (14), we obtain
$$(15) T_{1}^{i} + T_{2}^{i} = (n_{i}-1) m_{i} - Q_{i}.$$
Lemma 8.3 $2 T_{2}^{i} = m_{i+1} - A_{0}.$

$$\frac{\text{Proof. From (13), we have}}{2 T_{2}^{i} = 2 Q_{i} - 2 m_{i} - 6 T_{3}^{i}}$$

$$= 2(m_{i} + m_{i+1}) - 2m_{i} - (m_{i+1} + A_{0})$$

$$= m_{i+1} - A_{0}$$

by Lemma 8.1 and Corollary 8.2.1.

Q.E.D.

It is now possible to compute T_1^{i} and T_0^{i} using Corollary 8.2.1 and equations (14) and (11); however, in order to consider limiting cases it is convenient to obtain explicit expressions for these values.

Lemma 8.4
$$2T_1^{i} = A_0 + 2m_{i-1}m_i - 4m_i - 3m_{i+1} \cdot \frac{Proof}{1}$$
. From (15) we can write
 $2T_1^{i} = 2(n_i-1)m_i - 2Q_i - 2T_2^{i}$.
From (1) and Lemma 8.1, it follows that

 $2T_{1}^{i} = 2(m_{i-1}^{-1}) m_{i} - 2(m_{i} + m_{i+1}) - 2T_{2}^{i}$ $= 2 m_{i-1} m_{i} - 4 m_{i} - 2 m_{i+1} - 2 T_{2}^{i},$

and by Lemme 8.3, we have

$$2T_{1}^{i} = 2m_{i-1} m_{i} - 4m_{i} - 2m_{i+1} - (m_{i+1} - A_{o})$$
$$= A_{o} + 2m_{i-1} m_{i} - 4m_{i} - 3m_{i+1} \cdot Q.E.D.$$

Lemma 8.5 6
$$T_0^{i} = 6 {\binom{n_i}{3}} - 6m_{i-1}m_i + 12m_i + 5m_{i+1} - A_0.$$

Proof. By (11) we have
6 $T_0^{i} = 6 {\binom{n_i}{3}} - 6 T_1^{i} - 6 T_2^{i} - 6 T_3^{i}$
 $= 6 {\binom{n_i}{3}} - 3 (A_0 + 2m_{i-1}m_i - 4m_i - 3m_{i+1})$
 $- 3 {\binom{m_{i+1}}{3}} - A_0 - {\binom{m_{i+1}}{3}} + A_0$
 $= 6 {\binom{n_i}{3}} - 6 m_{i-1}m_i + 12m_i + 5 m_{i+1} - A_0$

by Lemmas 8.3 and 8.4 and Corollary 8.2.1.

Q.E.D.

It is convenient to introduce the numbers z_1 , i = 0, 1, 2, . . . , by the equation:

(16)
$$z_{1} = \frac{m_{1}}{r_{1}} = \frac{(r_{1-1}-1) \cdot m_{1-1}}{2(r_{1-1}-1)} = \frac{m_{1-1}}{2}$$

From (9) and the fact that $r_0 > 2$, it follows that:

$$(17) \lim_{i \to \infty} z_i = \infty$$

<u>Lemma 8.6</u> $i \rightarrow \infty$ $\frac{r_i}{z_i} = 0.$ <u>Proof</u>. By (2) and (3), we can write

•

$$\frac{r_{i}}{z_{i}} = \frac{8 (1-1/r_{i-1})}{n_{i-1}}$$

and so lim $\frac{r_{i}}{z_{i}} = 0.$ Q.E.D.

Lemma 8.7
$$\binom{n_{i}}{3} = 2z_{i} (2z_{i} - 1) (z_{i} - 1) /3.$$

Proof. $\binom{n_{i}}{3} = n_{i}(n_{i} - 1) (n_{i} - 2) /6$, and from (7),
 $n_{i} = \frac{2m_{i}}{r_{i}},$
 $n_{i} - 1 = \frac{2m_{i} - r_{i}}{r_{i}},$
 $n_{i} - 2 = \frac{2(m_{i} - r_{i})}{r_{i}},$

so then

$$\binom{n_{i}}{3} = 2 m_{i} (2m_{i} - r_{i}) (m_{i} - r_{i}) / 3 r_{i}^{3}$$

= 2 $z_{i} (2z_{i} - 1) (z_{i} - 1) / 3$. Q.E.D.

We are now in a position to present one of the main results of this section.

$$\frac{\text{Theorem 8.8}}{i \rightarrow \infty} \quad \lim_{i \rightarrow \infty} \frac{T_1^{i}}{\binom{n_1}{3}} = \lim_{i \rightarrow \infty} \frac{T_2^{i}}{\binom{n_1}{3}} = \lim_{i \rightarrow \infty} \frac{T_3^{i}}{\binom{n_1}{3}} = 0 \quad \text{and}$$

$$\lim_{i \rightarrow \infty} \frac{T_0^{i}}{\binom{n_1}{3}} = 1.$$
Proof. By Corollary 8.2.1 and Lemma 8.7. we have

<u>Proof</u>. By Corollary 8.2.1 and Lemma 8.7, we have

$$i \stackrel{\text{lim}}{\to \infty} \frac{T_3^{i}}{\binom{n_1}{3}} = i \stackrel{\text{lim}}{i \to \infty} \frac{\frac{m_{i+1} + A_0}{4z_1(2z_1 - 1)(z_1 - 1)}}{4z_1(2z_1 - 1)(z_1 - 1)}$$
$$= \frac{\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{(r_1 - 1) m_1 + A_0}{4z_1(2z_1 - 1) (z_1 - 1)} \text{ by (8)}$$
$$= i \stackrel{\text{lim}}{i \to \infty} \frac{(r_1/z_1) (r_1/z_1 - 1/z_1) + A_0/z_1^{3}}{4 (2 - 1/z_1) (1 - 1/z_1)}$$
$$= 0$$

by (17) and Lemma 8.6.

With regard to
$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_2^i}{\binom{n_i}{3}}$$
, we can first use

Corollary 8.2.1 and Lemma 8.3 to eliminate m_{i+1} and write $T_2^i = 3 T_3^i - A_0$

so that

$$\frac{T_2^{1}}{T_3^{1}} = 3 - \frac{A_0}{T_3^{1}} ,$$

and by Corollary 8.2.1, it follows that

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_2^i}{T_3^i} = 3.$$

Hence,

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_2^{i}}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_2^{i}}{T_3^{i}} \cdot \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_3^{i}}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = 0$$

٠

Now,

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{4m_i}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{24 T_3^{i-1} - 4A_0}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = 0,$$

and

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{3m_{i+1}}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{18 T_3^i - 3 A_0}{\binom{n_i}{3}} = 0$$

with the aid of Corollary 8.2.1 and the first part of this theorem; therefore,

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_1^{i}}{\binom{n}{3}} = 0.$$

By (12) it now follows immediately that

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{T_0^{i}}{\binom{n}{3}i} = 1.$$
 Q.E.D.

Theorem 8.8 says, then, that for large i, G_1 resembles an empty graph in the sense that nearly all triangles are empty triangles despite the fact that the orders of the complete subgraphs of G_1 become unbounded as i approaches infinity.

SECTION 9

MISCELLANEOUS RESULTS ON LINE-GRAPHS

The purpose of this concluding section is to present a few results dealing with line-graphs and some special types of graphs, namely, trees, bipartite graphs, and planar and nonplanar graph.

I. Trees and Line-Graphs

The line-graph of a graph containing vertices of degree three or more clearly contains triangles. The only graphs not having such vertices are arcs and circuits. We have already seen that the line-graph of an arc is an arc (and is therefore a tree) while the line-graph of a circuit is an isomorphic circuit. This leads us at once to the following.

<u>Theorem 9.1</u> The only line-graphs which are trees are the arcs.

<u>Definition 9.1</u> A connected graph in which every block is either a single edge or a single circuit is called a <u>Husimi</u> tree.

A concept related to the Husimi tree (see [7]) is the following, whose connection with trees and line-graphs will be evident shortly.

82

<u>Definition 9.2</u> A connected graph in which every block is a complete graph is called a <u>completed Husimi</u> <u>tree</u>.

The next definition and theorem are due to Harary [4].

<u>Definition 9.3</u> With every graph G there is associated a graph B(G), called the <u>block-graph</u> of G, whose vertex set can be put in one-to-one correspondence with the blocks of G in such a way that two vertices of B(G) are joined by an edge if and only if the corresponding blocks of G have a (separating) vertex in common.

Unlike line-graphs, there is no "near" one-to-one correspondence between graphs and block-graphs. We shall see, however, that there is a one-to-one correspondence between trees and certain types of block-graphs. We state the aforementioned result of Harary using our terminology.

<u>Theorem of Harary</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that a graph be a block-graph is that it be a completed Husimi tree.

<u>Theorem 9.2</u> A necessary and sufficient condition that a graph be the line-graph of a tree is that it be a completed Husimi tree in which all vertices have connective index at most two.

<u>Proof</u>. If G is a tree, then the line-graph L(G) and the block-graph B(G) are clearly isomorphic since the blocks of G are simply the edges of G. Harary's theorem then implies that L(G) is a completed Husimi tree. That the connective indices of the vertices in L(G) are at most two follows since L(G) is a line-graph.

Conversely, let H be a completed Husimi tree, all of whose vertices have connective index one or two. By Krausz' theorem, there exists a graph G such that L(G) = H. We shall show that G can be taken to be a tree. If G were not a tree, then G would contain a circuit. If G consists only of a circuit, then L(G) is an isomorphic circuit. Since L(G) is a completed Husimi tree, L(G) is a triangle, and we can take G to be $K_{1,3}$, which is a tree. If G consists of more than a circuit, then it is easily seen that G contains an edge E adjacent to two edges of a circuit C in G but not adjacent to some edge F of C. The corresponding vertices e and f of L(G) must lie on a circuit of L(G), and they are not adjacent. This contradicts the fact that L(G)is a completed Husimi tree.

Q.E.D.

II. Bipartite Graphs and Line-Graphs

As already mentioned, Moon (with the aid of Hoffman) has characterized the line-graph of nearly all complete bigraphs. The problem of dealing with the line-graphs of bigraphs in general does not seem to be particularly easy. We next determine the class of all connected bipartite linegraphs. The proof of the theorem which we shall give depends heavily on the following well-known theorem which can be found in Ore [11]. <u>Theorem</u>. A graph G is a bigraph if and only if all circuits contained in G are of even length.

<u>Theorem 9.3</u> The only connected bipartite line-graphs are arcs and circuits of even length.

<u>Proof</u>. Let G be a connected graph and L(G) a bigraph. If G contains a vertex of degree three or more, then L(G)contains a triangle, and by the previous theorem, L(G) is not bipartite. Thus, G is either an arc or a circuit. If G is an arc, then L(G) is an arc, thus contains no circuits of any kind and is a bigraph. If G is a circuit, then L(G)is an isomorphic circuit, so L(G) will be bipartite if and only if G is a circuit of even length.

Q.E.D.

III. Planar and Nonplanar Graphs and Line-Graphs

One of the most important concepts in all of graph theory is that of the planar graph.

<u>Definition 9.4</u> A graph is called <u>planar</u> if it can be drawn in the plane in such a way that no two of its edges intersect except at a vertex.

A result of Kuratowski which may very well be termed "the fundamental theorem" of topological graph theory completely determines whether a graph is planar (see, for example, Harary [5]). One more definition is required before stating this result. <u>Definition 9.5</u> Two graphs are <u>homeomorphic</u> if it is possible to insert new vertices of degree two into their edges in such a way that the two resulting graphs are isomorphic.

<u>Theorem of Kuratowski</u> A graph G is planar if and only if it has no subgraph homeomorphic to the complete graph K_5 or the complete bigraph $K_{3,3}$.

If G is planar, it is quickly seen, by examples, that L(G) may or may not be planar. If G has a vertex of degree five or more, then certainly L(G) is nonplanar since L(G) contains the subgraph K_5 . However, planar graphs exist in which every vertex has degree less than five but whose line-graph is nonplanar. What conditions must be placed on a planar graph in order to assure that its line-graph be planar also is, at present, not clear. We do present, however, the following result.

<u>Theorem 9.4</u> The line-graph of a nonplanar graph is nonplanar.

<u>Proof</u>. Let G be a nonplanar graph. Then either G contains K_5 or $K_{3,3}$ as a subgraph or some subgraph homeomorphic to K_5 or $K_{3,3}$. We shall show that under any circumstance, L(G) contains a subgraph homeomorphic to $K_{3,3}$ and hence is nonplanar by the Theorem of Kuratowski.

If G contains the subgraph K_5 , then let us denote the vertices of K_5 by 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, and the edges by $E_{1,j}$,

where E_{ij} joins vertex i to vertex j, i < j. Let e_{ij} denote the vertex in L(G) corresponding to E_{ij} . The following graph is then seen to be a subgraph of L(G).



Figure 9.1

This subgraph H is homeomorphic to $K_{3,3}$. Suppose that G does not contain K_5 as a subgraph but only a subgraph homeomorphic to it. Then this subgraph differs from K_5 only in that it has additional vertices of degree two inserted in the edges. Suppose that G contains a subgraph homeomorphic to K_5 having only one more vertex than K_5 . If the additional vertex is inserted in an edge of K_5 whose corresponding vertex is not in H, then H is a subgraph of L(G) in this case also. Suppose, however, that the vertex k is placed in the edge E_{ij} in K_5 and that the corresponding vertex e_{ij} is a vertex of H. If the degree of e_{ij} in H is two, then let E_{ij} now denote the edge which joins vertex i and vertex k and let E_{jk} be the edge joining vertex k and vertex j. If we now place the corresponding vertex e_{jk} of L(G) in the

appropriate edge of H, we obtain a subgraph of L(G) which is homeomorphic to H and to $K_{3,3}$. If, on the other hand, the degree of eij in H is three, we proceed somewhat differently. We observe that in H,e_{ij} is either adjacent to exactly one vertex of the type e_{ip} (or e_{pi}) or adjacent to exactly one vertex of the type e, (or eq.j). (For example, in the case of the vertex e_{14} , i = 1 and j = 4, and e_{14} is adjacent to e_{15} but adjacent to neither e_{12} nor e_{13}). Assume $e_{i,i}$ is adjacent to exactly one vertex of the type e_{ip} , say e_{ir} (or e_{ri} , if r < i). Now if the vertex k is inserted in the edge $E_{i,i}$ of K_5 , we let $E_{i,i}$ denote the edge joining vertex i and vertex k, and we let E_{ik} denote the edge joining vertex k and vertex j. It is now seen that L(G) contains a subgraph which differs from H only by the addition of a vertex of degree two in the edge joining eij and e_{ir} . This subgraph is homeomorphic to $K_{3,3}$. If additional vertices of degree two are now inserted in the edges of K_5 , it is possible to continue the above procedure, each time arriving at a subgraph of L(G) which is homeomorphic to K3.3.

Should G actually contain $K_{3,3}$ as a subgraph then the vertex set U of this subgraph can be expressed as $U = U' \cup U''$, where $U' = \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $U'' = \{4, 5, 6\}$ and where E_{1j} , i ϵ U', $j \epsilon$ U'', denotes the edge joining vertex i and vertex j. Let e_{1j} be the corresponding vertex in L(G). A subgraph of L(G) is shown in Figure 9.2.



Figure 9.2

This subgraph is homeomorphic to $K_{3,3}$. If G contains only a subgraph homeomorphic to $K_{3,3}$, then the graph of Figure 9.2 has the desirable properties which allow us to proceed in a completely analogous way to that in the preceding case to show L(G) must have a subgraph homeomorphic to $K_{3,3}$. Q.E.D.

We conclude this topic, this section, and this thesis with a conjecture after giving a definition (see [1]) and a remark.

<u>Definition 9.6</u> The <u>thickness</u> t(G) of a graph G having at least one edge is the minimum number of pairwise edge disjoint planar subgraphs of G whose sum is G.

Theorem 9.4 may now be stated as follows: If $t(G) \ge 2$, then $t(L(G)) \ge 2$.

Conjecture. If $t(G) \ge n$, then $t(L(G)) \ge n$.

INDEX OF DEFINITIONS

The number opposite the term refers to the page on which the term is first defined or explained.

adjacent edges -- 4 edge -- 3 edge connected, m - -- 32 adjacent vertices -- 4 edge connectivity -- 32 arc -- 6 automorphism group of a graph-14 edge direct sum -- 7 edge disjoint subgraphs -- 7 biconnected --40 edge incidence matrix -- 11 edge regular graph-- 17 bigraph -- 8 bipartite graph --8 empty graph -- 4 empty triangle -- 76 Euler graph -- 50 block -- 26 block-graph -- 83 Euler path -- 50 even edge -- 50 circuit -- 6 even vertex-- 50 circuit edge -- 25 complement of a subgraph in a graph -- 5 graph -- 3 complete bigraph -- 8 Hamilton circuit -- 56 complete graph -- 4 Hamilton graph -- 56 completed Husimi tree -- 83 Hamilton index -- 71 component -- 7 connected component -- 7 homeomorphic graphs -- 86 Husimi tree -- 82 connected graph -- 7 connected, m - - 40connected vertices -- 6 incidence matrix -- 11 incidence of edge and connective index -- 27 vertex -- 4 connectivity -- 41 interior vertex -- 40 cycle -- 6 isolated vertex -- 4 cyclic path -- 6 isomorphic graphs -- 6 cut edge -- 25 cut point-- 25 limit graph -- 24 line -- 3 degree of an edge -- 17 degree of a vertex -- 4 line-graph -- 1 loop -- 3 diagonal -- 6 digraph -- 3 direct sum -- 7 directed edge -- 3 nonseparable graph -- 27 directed graph-- 3 odd edge -- 50 disjoint subgraphs -- 7 odd vertex -- 50 order of a graph -- 4 doubly connected -- 40 ordinary graph -- 3

```
path -- 6
planar graph -- 85
point-- 3
regular graph -- 8
repeated line-graph -- 1
section graph of a circuit-- 6
separating edge -- 25
separating vertex -- 25
sequential graph -- 58
star graph -- 8
subgraph -- 5
```

```
terminal edge -- 4
terminal vertex -- 5
thickness of a graph -- 89
tree -- 7
triangle -- 4
triangle of type T_0 -- 76
triangle of type T_2 -- 76
triangle of type T_3 -- 76
triply connected -- 41
trivial graph -- 4
vertex -- 3
vertex connectivity -- 41
vertex incidence matrix -- 11
vertex of attachment -- 40
vertex set -- 3
```

91

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. L. W. Beineke and F. Harary. <u>On the Thickness of a</u> Complete Graph. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., (to appear).
- 2. C. Berge. The Theory of Graphs and its Applications. (London, 1962)
- 3. W. S. Conner. <u>The Uniqueness of the Triangular</u> <u>Association Scheme</u>. Ann. Math. Statist., 151-190 (1958).
- 4. F. Harary. <u>A Characterization of Block-Graphs</u>. Can. Math. Bull., 1-6 (1963).
- 5. F. Harary. <u>Recent Results in Topological Graph Theory</u>. Acta Math. Hung., (to appear).
- 6. F. Harary. <u>Some Historical and Intuitive Aspects of</u> <u>Graph Theory</u>. SIAM Review, 123-131 (1960).
- 7. F. Harary and R. Z. Norman. <u>The Dissimilarity Charac-</u> teristic of Husimi Trees. Ann. Math., 134-141 (1953).
- 8. A. J. Hoffman. <u>On the Uniqueness of the Triangular</u> <u>Association Scheme.</u> Ann. Math. Statist., 492-497 (1960).
- 9. J. W. Moon. <u>On the Line-Graph of the Complete Bigraph</u>. Ann. Math. Statist., 664-667 (1963).
- 10. E. A. Nordhaus and B. M. Stewart. <u>Triangles in an</u> <u>Ordinary Graph</u>. Can. J. Math., 33-41 (1963).
- 11. O. Ore. Theory of Graphs. (Providence, 1962).
- 12. G. Sabidussi. <u>Graph Derivatives</u>. Math. Zeit., 385-401 (1961).
- 13. S. S. Shrikhande. On a Characterization of the <u>Triangular Association Scheme</u>. Ann. Math. Statist., 39-47 (1959).
- 14. S. S. Shrikhande. <u>The Uniqueness of the L2 Association</u> <u>Scheme</u>. Ann. Math. Statist., 781-798 (1959).
- 15. H. Whitney. <u>Congruent Graphs and the Connectivity of</u> <u>Graphs</u>. Amer. J. Math., 150-168 (1932).

